Summons to Meeting
Friday 3 September 2021

Audit Committee
Monday 13 September 2021, 2.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House
Membership:
Councillor Alan Tyson (Chair)
Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours
Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Janet King

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Patrick Gorrill
Councillor George Kemp

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1.

Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2021

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declaration of Interests
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4.

Questions
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two clear
working days before the day of the meeting.

5.

Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter Ending 30 June 2021
(Pages 7 - 22)

6.

Treasury Management Annual Review 2020/21 (Pages 23 - 94)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:
Tuesday 12 October 2021, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Agenda Item 1
At a meeting of the Audit Committee held in Theatre - The Wave Centre, Maryport on
Tuesday 29 June 2021 at 2.00 pm
Members
Councillor Alan Tyson (Chair)
Councillor Markus Campbell-Savours
Councillor Janet King

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Patrick Gorrill

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Vaughan Hodgson and
Councillor George Kemp
Staff Present
L Jardine, P McKenzie and S Sewell
Also Present
G Kelly
76.

Minutes
Councillor Campbell – Savours commented that the Audit Committee had not
yet received a copy of the Procurement Task and Finish Group Report, as
stated in the minutes.
Democratic Services confirmed that they are liaising with the Monitoring Officer
and the committee will be provided with the report as soon as possible.
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2021 were signed as a correct
record.

77.

Declaration of Interests
None declared

78.

Questions
None received

79.

Assurance, Risk and Audit Year End Report 2020/21
The Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA) officer presented the report which was to
inform the Committee of the work performed by the Assurance, Risk and Audit
Team in the financial year 2020/21 and to provide the annual assurance
opinion.
Members then asked questions in relation to corporate support, resourcing in
Audit and HUB Management. Officers confirmed that Audit resourcing is
affected by the vacancy for the Audit Manager role. Alternative methods of Audit
delivery are being considered including shared services. Audit work on the HUB

Page 3

Management will cease in 2021/22 and the ARA officer confirmed that they
would circulate a list of the tasks which are covered by ‘Corporate Support’.
The ARA Officer also provided a summary of the Financial Systems Key
Controls Review and Cyber Security Review, stating that the reviews were very
positive. The Finance and HR team are implementing a new ERP system which
should provide audit records of changes/transactions.
Members asked questions in relating to working from home, including cyber
security risks. Members were advised that cyber risks associated with mobile
working were a key control in the review and were provided with a brief of the
testing that took place.
Members also asked questions in relation to phishing testing, which will be
completed later in the year, the report will then come back to the committee.
Members noted the contents of the report.
80.

The Internal Audit Charter
The Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA) officer presented the report which sets
out how the ARA team intend to deliver an Internal Audit Service in line with the
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS) 1 April 2017.
The ARA officer then provided some clarity in relation to the wording of the
report and that the external assessment of internal audit will be undertaken in
2022.
Members approved the recommendations as set out in the report.

81.

Audit Plan and Strategy 2021/22
The Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA) officer presented the report for 2021/22,
which included the resource plan and the strategy in line with Public Sector
Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS) 1 April 2017
Members were made aware of a key change to the strategy in relation to
Financial Services, from 2021/22 a three-year programme has been put in place
which ensures that each main financial system is reviewed in more depth at
least once every three years. Management also has a responsibility to ensure
that all financial systems continue to effectively operate each year.
In response to a question relating to the LATCO, the ARA officer explained that
the LATCO is within the Audit Plan as it is a partner and it is built into the
contract. To assist members, correspondence will be distributed which will
explain the assurance scope and relationship of the ARA Team with the
LATCO.
Further questions were asked in relation to the LATCO, Value for Money, Risk
Management and the impact resourcing is having on internal Audit.

Page 4

Members commented that the ARA team had been performing well given the
reduced resources available. Debate ensued in relation to resourcing and how
the team manage workload.
In relation to the specific ARA plan, clarity was provided to members on how the
days are calculated and the spreadsheet will be circulated to members.
Members approved the recommendations as set out in the report.
82.

Redmond Review
The Monitoring Officer presented the report and provided the Committee with
an overview of the report on the Independent Review into the Oversight of Local
Audit and the Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting, known as
the ‘Redmond Review’.
Members were provided with a summary of the report and the
recommendations that will affect Allerdale Borough Council, in particular
recommendation four.
The Monitoring Officer explained that in response to the recommendation four,





The Council will discuss with the external auditor the presentation of the
2020/21 Annual Audit Letter to the full Council.
Request the Constitution Review Group to consider the benefits and
pitfalls of appointing an independent non-elected member, or members,
to the Audit Committee perhaps utilising a joint appointment with another
public body but without compromising the role of elected representatives.
Formalise the process which sees the auditor meet frequently with key
statutory officers.

The Monitoring Officer provided a brief overview of some of the other key
recommendations.
Gareth Kelly (Grant Thornton LLP) commented on the Redmond Review and
advised that Grant Thornton LLP fully supports the review and had contributed
to the consultation, explaining that most of the recommendations are already in
place, the review formalises the actions.
Questions were asked in relation to value for money and the role of the Audit
Committee when focusing on Value for Money. Extensive debate then ensued,
including discussions surrounding ‘deep dives’ into areas of work/projects
and/or areas of concern.
Members noted the contents of the report.
83.

Annual Governance Statement 2020/21
The Monitoring Officer presented the Annual Governance Statement for
2020/21. The officer provided a summary of the key areas including
procurement, Allerdale Waste Services, Local Government Reorganisation, the
targeting operating model, and the Covid-19 pandemic.

Page 5

Councillor behaviour and the code of conduct was debated, with members
expressing concerns about the lack of sanctions. Officers advised that a new
model code of conduct will be implemented and training will be provided for
borough and town/parish councillors.
Members then approved the draft Annual Governance Statement 2020-21.
84.

Progress Report and Sector Update
Gareth Kelly (Grant Thornton LLP) presented the report, and members were
advised that the Audit Plan was not ready for presentation at this meeting, but
the report will be circulated in July 2021. The delay has mainly been due to
legacy 2019/20 local government Audits, and the delivery of NHS Audits.
Members were also advised of an extension to the financial statement work,
which is now due to be completed late September 2021. The timescale to
complete the Auditors Annual report has also moved by the National Audit
Office until December 2021.
Members were also advised of the new Value for Money Framework, including
Financial Sustainability, Governance and the Three Es (efficiency, effectiveness
and economy.
Members noted the contents of the report.

85.

Audit Fee Letter
Gareth Kelly (Grant Thornton LLP) presented the Audit Fee Letter, explaining
that the fee has increased inline with the Redmond Review, the new Audit
Framework and the additional Audit work across Value for Money, ISA540
Estimates and ISA240.
Members discussed the Audit Fees and the remote Audit that was completed
for 2020/21.
Members noted the contents of the Audit Fee Letter.

The meeting closed at 4.25 pm

Page 6

Agenda Item 5
Allerdale Borough Council
Audit Committee – 13 September 2021
Assurance, Risk and Audit Report for the Quarter
Ending 30 June 2021
Portfolio holder

Councillor Colin Sharpe.

Report from

Paula McKenzie, Assurance, Risk and Audit
Officer/Acting ARA Manager.

Wards affected

All Wards.

Is this a key decision

No.

1.0
1.1

The reason for the decision
To inform the Committee of the work performed by the Assurance, Risk and Audit
Team in the first quarter of the financial year 2021/22.

2.0
2.1

Recommendations
That the report is accepted subject to any additional information that the committee
may require.

3.0

Background and Introduction

3.1

This is the first progress report for the financial year 2021/22.

3.2

Items covered in this report are as follows:








Performance against the 2020/21 and 21/22 plans
Assurance and consultancy activities during the quarter
Fraud work
Assurance, Risk and Audit activity performance,
Quality Assurance and Improvement Program
Agreed Action follow up, and
Training and staffing.

Page 7

4.0

Content

4.1

Performance against the 2021/22 Audit Plan

4.2

Time Summary
Activity
Statutory Assurance Reviews
Assurance and Risk Support
Follow up and performance
Completion of 2020/21 reviews
Assurance Reviews
Democratic Representation
Corporate Support
Projects
Peer Review
Advice
Investigations
Fraud Activities
Risk Management Facilitation
Contingency
Total Audit Time

Planned
Days
67
8
9
40
0
22
68
24
5
0
0
10
6
2

Actual
Days
0
0
4.66
22.57
0
3.78
30.14
5.81
0
0
1.42
2.30
0.47
0

261

71.15

Non-Chargeable
Non chargeable time
Training
Sickness / other absences

58
24
9

15.95
1.15
0.24

Total Non-Chargeable Time

91

17.34

Annual Leave

64

10.05

352

88.49

Total Days available
4.3

The chargeable time performance for quarter one is 80% (total time/total days) this
is above the planned target of 74.15%. This is considered an excellent achievement
based on challenges faced within the team during this time.

4.4

The team have been under resourced since September 2020 which reduced the
number of expected available days.

5

Assurance and Consultancy Activities

5.1

The assurance activities for this quarter focused on finalising the reviews of ICT,
Financial Services, Revenues and Benefits and Car Parking Income.

Page 8

5.2

Both the ICT and Financial Services reports were finalised in this quarter and
submitted to the Audit Committee for consideration in June 2021. The following
report has since been submitted during quarter two and can be found at appendix
one to this report:


Revenues and Benefits 18/19 (Appendix one restricted)

5.3

Following the creation of the Programme Office service the governance
arrangements have changed. The ARA Manager is now only involved in risk
discussions upon request.

5.4

The ARA Officer/acting manager has provided assurance and risk advice to support
the organisation in the achievement of its objectives, advice and consultancy work
has been performed in the following areas:





Governance Group
Grant support
ERP Finance System
Warning Marker Panel

6

Corporate Fraud

6.1

The National Fraud Initiative data matches were received in January 2021. These
have been categorised by risk and allocated to the appropriate service for action.

6.2

The Audit and Revenues and Benefits departments have worked hard to review the
data matches, 500 cases had been processed at the time of writing this report, with
an identified over payment outcome from the Revenues and Benefits matches of
£2,732.46.

Page 9

6.3

A number of suspected grant frauds which were identified, no recovery was needed,
all were reported to the relevant organisations as requested by BEIS, NAFN were
also tasked by BEIS to ensure that the information was shared between the
appropriate authorities.

7

Progress with the Annual Plan

7.1

The following reviews were in progress at 30 June 2019:
Audit Title
Revenues and Benefits
Car Parks Income

7.2

Status
Completed. Appendix one of report
Draft Report Clearance

Management’s acceptance of recommendations - 100%
Assurance, Risk and Audit is designed to add value and assist management in
achieving the organisations overall key aims and objectives. An indicator for ARA
performance is that 100% of all recommendations made are accepted by
management.

7.3

Management’s implementation of agreed actions (recommendations)
After follow up following the quarter ending 30 June 2021, 0 actions were overdue.

8

Risk Management

8.1

Risk Management still currently sits with The Hub Manager, who confirmed that no
third tier risk workshops had been prioritised in 20/21 or 21/22, however it has been
informally communicated to the ARA Team that Risk Management will be returning
to the service following the restructure, a date for this has not been confirmed.
Covid risks are being managed by strategic groups and sub groups which included
third tier Managers.
Risk support for third tiers and all employees will be in the way of online learning
moving forward due to Covid. The Hub Manager has approved a mandatory online
course with the Learning & Development Advisor.
Due to Covid no member training was facilitated in quarter one.

8.2

The Corporate Risk Register is published as part of the Performance Reports to
Executive and can be found at the link below;
Performance

Page 10

9.0

Implications and Impact

9.1

Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes

Acceptance of the Assurance, Risk and Audit Team’s work provides a direct and
indirect contribution to the achievement of the Council’s priorities, in accordance
with the Assurance, Risk and Audit Service Plan.
9.2

Finance/Resource implications

There are no additional finance or resource issues that have not been previously
highlighted in this report or previously reported to the Committee.
9.3

Legal and governance implications

There are no additional legal and governance issues that have not been previously
highlighted in this report or previously reported to the Committee.
9.4

Risk analysis

Acceptance of this report has no risk management implications other than the
consideration of the Corporate Risks and Issues Log by the Committee in terms of
oversight of the effectiveness of Risk Management Framework.
9.6

Equality impacts

Equality is considered during the Assurance, Risk and Audit activities.
9.7

Health and Safety impacts

Acceptance of this report has no health and safety impacts.
9.8

Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts

Acceptance of this report has no health, wellbeing and community safety impacts.
9.9

Environmental/sustainability impacts

Acceptance of this report has no environmental/sustainability impacts.
9.10

Other significant implications

None.
Appendices attached to this report
Appendix number
1

Title of appendix
Revenues and Benefits Final Report (restricted)

Background documents available
Name of background document

Where it is available

Page 11

Report author(s) and contact officer(s):
Paula McKenzie
Assurance Risk and Audit Officer/Acting ARA Manager
paula.mckenzie@allerdale.gov.uk
Tel no. 01900 702987

Page 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Allerdale Borough Council
Audit Committee - 13 September 2021
Council - 22 September 2021
Treasury Management – Annual Review 2020-21
Portfolio holder

Councillor Colin Sharpe
PH Finance and Legal

Report from

Catherine Nicholson, Chief Officer - Assets
Tel: 01900-702503
Email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Wards affected

None directly

Is this a key decision

No

1.0

The reason for the decision

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s treasury
management (TM) activities during 2020-21, the effects of TM decisions and
transactions executed in the past year and of compliance with its Treasury
Management Policy.

2.0

Recommendations

2.1

Members are recommended to note the contents of this report.

3.0

Background and Introduction

3.1

Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 require the Council to
produce an annual report on its treasury management activities and prudential and
treasury indicators for the financial year. This report satisfies that obligation and the
associated reporting requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the TM Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in
Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

Page 23

3.2

During 2020-21 the minimum reporting requirements - set out in the Council’s
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment Strategy - were
that Council should receive the following reports:
 an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment
Strategy in advance of the year (Council - 4 March 2020)
 a mid-year treasury update report (Council - 9 December 2020)
 an annual review, following the end of the year, describing the activity
compared to the strategy (this report).

3.3

The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and
scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management policies and activities. This report is
important in that respect, as it provides:
 details of the Council’s treasury activities during the financial year and its
overall treasury position at 31 March 2021
 evidence of compliance with the treasury policies previously approved by
members.

3.4

To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s Treasury
Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management reports, including the
annual report, to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by
Council.

3.5

This report summarises the following:
 Economic background (section 4)
 Overall treasury position at 31 March 2021 (section 5)
 Borrowing requirement (section 6)
 PWLB borrowing rates (section 7)
 Borrowing strategy for 2020-21(section 8)
 Borrowing activity during 2020-21 (section 9)
 Investment rates (section 10)
 Investment strategy for 2020-21 (section 11)
 Investment outturn for 2020-21 (section 12)
 Prudential and Treasury Indicators (section 13 and Appendix A).

4.0

Economic Background
U.K.
Coronavirus.

4.1

The financial year 2020-21 will go down in history as being the year of the
pandemic. Over the course of the year, Covid-19 and the actions to contain it have
had a dramatic and rapidly changing impact on the UK economy and the economies
of countries around the world. In the UK, the first national lockdown in late March
2020 did huge damage to an economy that was unprepared for such an eventuality.
This caused an economic downturn that exceeded the one caused by the financial
crisis of 2008-09.

Page 24

4.2

The economy has however adapted well to accommodate subsequent lockdowns.
In comparison to the lockdown in the spring of 2020, the short second lockdown in
November did relatively little damage and by the time of the third lockdown in
January 2021, businesses and individuals had become more resilient in adapting to
working in new ways during a three-month lockdown. As a result, the economy
suffered much less damage than was caused in the first one. The advent of
vaccines starting in November 2020, were also a game changer and have
enormously boosted confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal
during the second half of 2021.

4.3

The way in which the UK and US have led the world in implementing a fast
programme of vaccination which promises to lead to a return to something
approaching normal life during the second half of 2021, has been instrumental in
speeding economic recovery and the reopening of the economy. In addition, the
household saving rate has been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March
2020, meaning there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up
for services in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels as soon
as they reopen. It is therefore expected that the UK economy could recover towards
pre-pandemic level of economic activity over the course of 2021.

Lockdowns

110

GDP (Feb. 2020 = 100)
105

110

Hospitality
open

105

Schools
open

100

100

95

95

90

90

Few
restrictions

85

85
Non-essential retail
open

80

80

75

75
Capital Economics Forecast

70

70
Jan-20

4.4

Apr-20

Jul-20

Oct-20

Jan-21

Apr-21

Jul-21

Oct-21

Jan-22

2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to an upswing in growth after the
ending of political uncertainty, following the decisive result of the general election in
December, settled the Brexit issue. However, the GDP statistics for quarter 4 were
disappointing, with growth remaining static at 0.0% growth (+1.1% y/y). Since then, the
whole world has changed as a result of the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic.

Page 25

4.5

Overall UK growth in quarter 1 of 2020 (January to March) was -2.8% (-2.2% compared
to quarter 1 of 2019). At the time, this was the largest drop in UK GDP since the third
quarter of 1979 as lockdown measures introduced from mid-March forced nonessential businesses to close and consumers to stay at home. However, the full
impact of the pandemic on economic growth did not emerge until quarter 2 (April to
June) when the economy contracted by -19.5% (-21.4% compared to the same quarter
a year ago). This was the largest quarterly contraction in the UK economy since Office
for National Statistics (ONS) quarterly records began in 1955 and reflects the impact of
measures introduced to limit transmission of the virus and the closedown of whole
sections of the economy.

4.6

In quarter 3 of 2020, (July to September) UK GDP increased by a record 16.9% as
lockdown restrictions were lifted and pent up demand was released into the
economy. However, while output in the services, production and construction
sectors increased by record amounts in quarter 3, GDP nevertheless remained
below quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2019 levels, before the impact of the coronavirus
pandemic was seen. After the strong growth recorded for quarter 3, a further shortlived lockdown in November contributed to a slow-down in the pace of growth. In
the last three months of 2020, the economy expanded 1.3%. For 2020 as whole, the
economy contracted by 9.8%, the steepest drop since consistent records began in
1948. This compares with growth of 1.4% in 2019.

4.7

Following the two-quarter period of growth at the end of 2020, the emergence of a
new variant of the virus and the re-introduction of Covid-related restrictions in
January, UK GDP fall by 1.6% in quarter 1 of 2021 (Jan to March). This left the
economy around 8.8% below its pre-pandemic levels at the end of 2019 (2019 Q4).
Compared with the same quarter a year ago, the UK economy fell by 6.1%.

4.8

The outlook for the UK economy remains uncertain. It is dependent on the evolution
of the pandemic and the measures taken to protect public health. It will also depend
on how governments, households, businesses and financial markets respond to
those developments. In the near term, and in the absence of most restrictions on
domestic economic activity, UK GDP is expected to recover over the remainder of
2021 and reach its pre-pandemic level in quarter 4 of 2021, as the impact of Covid
continues to dissipate and activity continues to be supported by government
spending.

4.9

Both the Government and the Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020, at
the height of the crisis, to provide support to financial markets to ensure their proper
functioning, and to support the economy and protect jobs.

4.10

Two emergency cuts in the Bank Rate occurred in March 2020. The first on 11 March
(from 0.75% to 0.25%) and the second on 19 March (from 0.25% to 0.1%). These cuts
were accompanied by an increase in quantitative easing (QE), to increase the Bank of
England’s holdings of UK government bonds and sterling non-financial investmentgrade corporate bonds by £200 billion. Two further tranches of quantitative easing of
£100bn and £150bn were announced in June and November 2020 to a total of
£895bn. The Government and the Bank also implemented an extensive range of other
fiscal and monetary policy measures aimed at protecting jobs, helping firms struggling
with cash flow problems and limiting any lasting damage to the economy.

Page 26

4.11 While the Bank Rate remained unchanged for the rest of the year, financial markets
were concerned that the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) could cut the
Bank Rate into negative territory. However, the Bank’s August Monetary Policy
report played down the prospects of using negative interest rates by suggesting that
while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would be “less effective as
a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are worried about future
loan losses. It also has “other instruments available”, including QE and the use of
forward guidance. The Governor of the Bank of England also made it clear that he
thought that such a move would do more damage than good and that more
quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary.
4.12 Significantly, neither the minutes from the MPC’s November meeting, or the
November Monetary Policy Report, contained any reference to negative interest
rates, suggesting that the MPC still remained some way from being persuaded of
the case for such a policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than
saying that it “stands ready to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it
would take “whatever additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”.
4.13 At its February meeting, the Bank of England removed negative interest rates as a
possibility for at least six months after the findings of structured engagement
between the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and PRA-regulated firms found
that financial institutions were not ready to implement a negative bank rate over a
timeframe shorter than six months. The Bank did however request the PRA engage
with regulated firms to ensure that they commence preparations in order to
implement a negative bank rate at any point after six months. In making this
request, the MPC stressed that this move should not be interpreted as a signal that
the setting of negative rates was imminent or in prospect at any time. Therefore,
whilst this action will ensure negative rates remain part of the Bank’s ’Monetary
Policy Toolkit’ given the prospect that in six months’ time the economy should be
starting to grow strongly, this effectively means that negative rates occurring were
unlikely during the current downturn.
Average inflation targeting
4.14 2020-21 saw a major change adopted by the Bank of England in terms of
implementing its inflation target of 2%. In August, a key addition to the Bank’s
forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not
intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant
progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target
sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation rises to 2%
in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise the Bank
Rate until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be persistently above
target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate. This sets a high bar for raising the
Bank Rate with no increase in the Bank Rate currently expected before March
2023.
4.15 Inflation has been well under the Bank of England’s 2% target throughout 2020-21.
The twelve-month CPI inflation rate fell from 1.7% in quarter 1 (Jan to March) 2020
to 0.6% in quarters 2 and 3 and 0.5% in quarter 4. After rising to 0.7% in January
2021, it then fell to 0.4% in February before rising to 0.7% in March to return a rate
of 0.7% for quarter 1 of 2021. The below target rates of CPI inflation, during 2020-

Page 27

21, can, in large part, be accounted for by the direct and indirect effects of the
Covid-19 pandemic on the economy.
4.16 Since the year end, CPI inflation has risen sharply from 0.7% in March to 2.5% in
June and is projected by the Bank of England to rise temporarily to around 4% in
quarter 4 of 2021 and quarter 1 of 2022, before falling back to close to the 2%
target. This rise largely reflects the impact of the pandemic as the economy
recovers. This has led to higher energy and goods prices, which in turn reflects
rising commodity prices, transportation bottlenecks, constraints on production and
strong global demand for goods. However, the above-target CPI inflation is
expected to be temporary and, as commodity prices stabilise, global demand
rebalances and supply shortages ease, inflation is expected to fall back to close to
the 2% target in the medium term.
4.17 The sharp reductions in activity during 2020 lowered the demand for labour. Data
from the Labour Force Survey (LFS) showed that, despite the extensive take-up of
support from temporary government schemes, such as the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS),
redundancies and low levels of hiring contributed to both a fall in the employment
rate and rise in the unemployed rate since the start of the pandemic.
4.18 Figures for the period January to March 2021 show a significant increase in the
unemployment rate over the course of the preceding 12-months alongside falls in
the employment rate. The UK employment rate for those aged 16 to 64, in the three
months to March 2021 was estimated at 74.7%, 1.6 percentage points lower than a
year earlier. Meanwhile the Labour Force Survey (LFS) unemployment rate rose to
5.0% in the three months to March 2021. This is 0.9 percentage points higher than
a year earlier.
Government support.
4.19 Over the course of 2020-21, the Government and Bank of England announced
numerous fiscal and monetary policy measures to provide financial support
businesses and protect jobs. In addition to the reduction in the bank rate and
expansion of the Bank of England’s QE programme outlined above, these
measures have included:
 the Term Lending Scheme to enable banks to access cheap loans and
additional capacity to lend to businesses
 employment support schemes, most notably the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS)
and other measures
 government backed financial loan schemes
 other support for businesses including grants to business, business rates
relief and other tax measures.
4.20 Coupled with the reductions in tax revenues and increases in welfare payments
generated from the slowdown in economic activity, this support has come at a huge
cost in terms of the Government’s budget deficit. In 2020-21 government borrowing
is estimated at £300.3 billion, £243.1 billion more than in the same period last year.
This is equivalent to 14.3% of GDP and is the highest such ratio since the end of

Page 28

World War Two when it was 15.2% in the financial year to March 1946. Between
March 2020 and March 2021, government debt increased from 84% of GDP to
around 98% of GDP.
4.21 The Budget on 3 March 2021 increased fiscal support to the economy and
employment during 2021 and 2022, to be followed by substantial tax rises in the
following three years to help pay for the cost for the pandemic. This will help further
to strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic and return the
government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure and income
basis in 2025-26. This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further from 100%.
4.22 An area of concern though, is that the government’s debt is now twice as sensitive
to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to QE operations substituting fixed
long-term debt for floating rate debt. As a consequence there is a significant
incentive for the Government to promote the Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using
fiscal policy in conjunction with the monetary policy action by the Bank of England to
keep inflation from rising too high, and/or by amending the Bank’s policy mandate to
allow for a higher target for inflation.
Brexit
4.23 The final agreement of a trade deal between the UK and EU on 24 December 2020
has eliminated a significant downside risk for the UK economy. However, the initial
agreement only covers trade in goods so there is further work to be done on the
services sector where temporary equivalence has been granted in both directions
between the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent basis.
There was significant disruption to trade in January and February with complex
customs paperwork presenting a formidable barrier to trade. Whilst this appears to
have eased somewhat since then, it remains an area in need of further work to ease
difficulties that are still acute in some areas.
U.S.
4.24 Compared to the UK economy, the US economy suffered less damage due to the
pandemic and has been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020. After
falling by 5.1% in quarter 1 of 2020, GDP fell at a record annualised rate of 31.2% in
quarter 2 as the impact of the pandemic hit the economy hard. Following what was
the largest ever contraction, the economy rebounded strongly in quarter 3 to record
its biggest ever quarterly expansion of 33.8% (annualised). However, a rise in
Covid-19 cases and restrictions on activity during quarter 4 saw growth slow to
4.5%. Over 2020 as a whole, the economy shrank by 3.5% compared with growth of
1.9% in 2019. In quarter 1 of 2021, the continued economic recovery, reopening of
establishments, and ongoing government response to the pandemic, saw growth
pick up to 6.3%.
4.25 After peaking at 14.4% in April 2020, the unemployment rate was on a downward
trend over the remainder of 2020, dropping below 7% in the final quarter of 2020
(Oct to Dec). CPI Inflation remained below the Federal Reserve’s 2% target
throughout 2020 but rose in quarter 1 of 2021 to 2.6% in March 2021.
4.26 The Democrats won the presidential election in late 2020 and gained control of both
Congress and the Senate, although power is more limited in the latter. This enabled

Page 29

the Democrats to pass a $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March 2021 on
top of the $900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December.
These, together with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the target of giving
a first jab to over half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will
promote a rapid easing of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021.
The Democrats are also now negotiating to pass a $1trn fiscal stimulus package
aimed at renewing infrastructure over the next decade. Although this package is
longer-term, if passed, it would also help economic recovery in the near-term.
4.27 At its end of August meeting, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) revised its inflation
target from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time-period.
That is, following periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%,
appropriate monetary policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2%
for some time so that inflation averages 2% over time and longer-term inflation
expectations remain well anchored at 2%. At the mid-September meeting the Fed.
added that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range until
labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on
track to moderately exceed 2% for some time."
4.28 This change is aimed at providing more stimulus for economic growth and higher
levels of employment and avoiding the danger of getting caught in a deflationary
“trap” like Japan. Given inflation has actually been under-shooting the Federal
Reserve’s 2% target significantly for most of the last decade (and this year),
financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the
pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. There is now some
expectation that where the Fed has led in changing its policy towards implementing
its inflation and full employment mandate, other major central banks will follow (as
the Bank of England has already done) by allowing inflation to run higher for longer,
even if they do not call it a policy of average inflation targeting as such.
4.29 The Fed. expects strong economic growth during 2021 to have only a transitory
impact on inflation, which explains why the majority of Fed. officials project US
interest rates to remain near-zero through to the end of 2023. The key message is
still that policy will remain unusually accommodative, with near-zero rates and asset
purchases continuing for several more years. This is likely to result in keeping
treasury yields at historically low levels.
4.30 However, financial markets in 2021 have been concerned that the sheer amount of
fiscal stimulus, on top of highly accommodative monetary policy, could be over-kill
leading to a rapid elimination of spare capacity in the economy and generating
higher inflation much quicker than the Fed. expects. They have also been
concerned as to how and when the Fed. will eventually wind down its programme of
monthly QE purchases of treasuries. These concerns have pushed treasury yields
sharply up in the US in 2021. It is also likely that they have exerted some upward
pressure on gilt yields in the UK.
Eurozone
4.31 Both the rollout and take up of vaccines was disappointingly slow in the EU in the
first few months of 2021 but has since been rapidly catching up. This delay will

Page 30

inevitably put back economic recovery. In quarter 3 (July to September) of 2020 the
economy had staged a rapid rebound from the sharp drop in GDP caused by the
first lockdowns. However, a second wave of the virus saw GDP contract slightly in
quarter 4 to end 2020 4.9% below its pre-pandemic level. After contracting by
another 0.3% in quarter 1 of 2021, recovery will now be delayed until quarter 3 of
2021. At its June 2021 meeting, the ECB forecast strong economic recovery with
growth of 4.6% and 4.7% in 2021 and 2022 respectively.
4.32 Inflation remained well under 2% during 2020-21 but is is likely to rise sharply to
around 2.5% for a short period during 2021. However, as this will be transitory, due
to one-off factors, it is likely to cause the ECB little concern.
4.33 In response to a downturn in Eurozone and global growth, the ECB cut its main
deposit rate further into negative territory from -0.4% to -0.5% in September 2019.
No additional cuts were made to the ECB’s main rate during 2020-21 and it is
currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into negative territory
from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible tool to
use.
4.34 Once coronavirus started having a major impact in Europe, the ECB took action in
March 2020 to expand its QE operations and other measures to help promote
expansion of credit and economic growth. This included increasing its planned
asset purchases for the year by €1,470bn, on top of the existing commitment of
€20bn per month. The new purchases consist of an additional €120bn within the
existing Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), and €1,350bn in the
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP).
4.35 At its meeting in December, the ECB added a further €500bn to the Pandemic
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP), covering the purchase of government
and other bonds. It also extended the duration of the programme to March 2022 and
the reinvestment of principal payments from maturing securities purchased under
the PEPP scheme until at least the end of 2023. Three additional tranches of the
targeted longer-term refinancing operations (TLTRO), to provide cheap loans to
banks, were also approved, indicating that support will last beyond the impact of the
pandemic, implying indirect yield curve control for government bonds for some time
ahead.
4.36 The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn of quantitative easing, which started in March
2020, is providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like
Italy. There is therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain
this level of support. The March ECB meeting also took action to suppress the rise
in long bond yields by stepping up its monthly PEPP purchases. Meetings in April
and June confirmed these policies so monetary policy will remain highly
accommodative with no sign yet of tapering of asset purchases.
Asia
4.37 In China, a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in quarter 1 saw
strong economic recovery during the remainder of 2020. This has enabled it to
recover all of the contraction experienced in quarter 1 of 2020. Policy makers have
both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal
support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the
same time, China’s economy has benefited from the shift towards online spending

Page 31

by consumers in developed markets. These factors help to explain its comparative
outperformance compared to western economies.
4.38 However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more
infrastructure spending. After years of growth focused on this same area, any
further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic
returns in the longer term. This could therefore, lead to a further misallocation of
resources that will weigh on growth in future years. After making a rapid recovery in
2020-21, growth is likely to be tepid in 2021-22.
4.39 In Japan, a third round of fiscal stimulus in early December took the total additional
fiscal spending this year, in response to the virus, close to 12% of pre-virus GDP.
This represents one of the largest national fiscal responses to the crisis. Coupled
with Japan’s relative success in containing the virus without draconian measures
and an acceleration of the roll out of vaccines in 2021, the government’s latest fiscal
effort should help ensure a strong recovery and a return to pre-virus levels by the
end of 2021, around the same time as the US and sooner than the Eurozone.
However, on the negative side, Japan has continued to struggle to get out of a
deflation trap, to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little
progress on fundamental reform of the economy
Global Growth
4.40 World growth was in recession in 2020 but should recover during 2021. Inflation is
unlikely to be a significant problem in most countries for some years due to the
creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand during the
coronavirus crisis.
4.41 Until recent years, global growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e.
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an
economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This has
boosted worldwide productivity and growth and, by lowering costs, has also
depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over
the last 30 years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has
unbalanced the world economy.
4.42 In March 2021, western democracies implemented limited sanctions against a few
officials in charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang. This led to a
much bigger retaliation by China that caused considerable consternation in western
countries. After the pandemic exposed how frail extended supply lines were around
the world, both factors are now likely to lead to a sharp retrenchment of economies
into two blocs of western democracies versus autocracies. It is, therefore, likely that
we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation
and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply
products and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from rates in
prior decades.

Page 32

5.0 Overall Treasury Position at 31 March 2021
5.1

The Council’s treasury position at the beginning and end of 2020-21 was as follows:
Table 1: Overall treasury position
31.3.20
Principal

Rate/
Return1

Av. Life

31.3.21
Principal

Rate/
Return1

Av. Life

£’000

%

Years

£’000

%

Years

17,247

4.97

21

16,563

5.05

21

85

0.00

<1

85

0.00

<1

17,332

4.95

-

16,648

5.02

-

Short-term investments

8,992

0.20

<1

14,881

0.01

<1

investments2

11

5.00

-

12

8.80

-

-

-

(3,301)

-

-

0.21

-

11,592

0.02

-

PWLB loans
Other borrowing
Total debt

Long-term

Bank overdraft less cash
Total investments

(1,551)
7,452

1 weighted

average rate on borrowing/investments at 31 March (for illustrative purposes only)
including ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and
Investment Strategies
2 Not

5.2

The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised in
order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for
investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities.
Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are well established, both
through member reporting detailed in the introduction and through officer activity
detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

5.3

Items included in table 1 comprise borrowing and investments in financial instruments
held for treasury management purposes (i.e. investments made to support effective
treasury management activity) covered by the Authority’s Treasury Management and
Investment Strategies. Excluded from table 1 are:
 ‘service/policy investments’ in financial assets such as loans supporting service
outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures made for policy
reasons, (rather than for treasury management purposes); this includes the
Authority’s investment (loan notes) in Allerdale Investment Partnership LLP
 commercial investments in non-financial assets (for example, investment
property) held primarily or partially to generate a profit.

6.0 The Borrowing Requirement
6.1

The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is measured
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR represents the historic cost
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants,
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing).

Page 33

6.2

Capital expenditure that is not financed when incurred, through the application of
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will
increase the capital financing requirement. It will also give rise to a requirement to
make an annual charge to the general fund, known as the minimum revenue
provision (MRP). Charging the minimum revenue provision or a voluntary revenue
provision (in addition to the MRP) against the general fund will reduce the CFR.

6.3

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21 included an
expected net increase in the CFR of £12.262m during 2020-21 and a closing CFR
at 31 March 2021 of £35.159m. This increase was based on the 2020-21 capital
budget approved by Council in March 2020 and the revised capital budget for 201920 approved in December 2019. It also included an adjustment of £6.816m to
accommodate the CFR impact of implementing IFRS 16-leases previously expected
to take effect from 1 April 2020. The estimated increase in the CFR during 2020-21
and the closing CFR balance at 31 March 2021 were later revised to £4.817m and
£26.953m respectively. The net reduction to the expected movement in the CFR of
£8.206m reflects:
 the 2019-20 capital outturn position and approved budget carry forwards
incorporated into the 2020-21 revised capital budget. This reduced the
opening CFR at 1 April 2020 by £0.761m and added £0.657m to the
expected increase in 2020-21
 capital expenditure savings bids of £1.310m, funded from borrowing,
included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget
 reprofiling adjustments included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget to
move £0.130m of previously approved expenditure, funded from borrowing,
from 2020-21 to 2021-22
 removal of £6.816m from the CFR balance at 1 April 2021 following the
decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC to defer the implementation to 1 April
2021 and subsequently to 1 April 2022
 £0.1m reduction to the CFR arising from the decision taken by the Executive
in October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project
 £0.254m reduction to the MRP (increase in CFR) to reflect the 2019-20
outturn position and deferred implementation of IFRS 16.

6.4

Details of actual borrowing transactions undertaken in 2020-21 are summarised in
section 9.

6.5

At 31 March 2021, the Council’s capital financing requirement stood at £21.136m
compared to £22.136m at 31 March 2020. The decrease of £1.0m over the course
of 2020-21 reflects:
 an increase of £234k relating to unfinanced capital expenditure incurred
during the year
 a reduction of £106k arising from the decision taken by the Executive in
October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project
 a reduction of £1,128k resulting from amounts set aside from revenue (the
minimum revenue provision), calculated in accordance with the approved
MRP Policy Statement for 2020-21.

Page 34

Table 2: Capital Financing Requirement

CFR at 31 March

6.6

6.7

31.3.20
Updated
Estimate

31.3.20
Actual

31.3.21
Approved
Estimate

31.3.21
Updated
Estimate

31.3.21
Actual

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

22,897

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

The variance of £5.817m between the actual and updated estimate of the CFR at
31 March 2021 comprises:


£5.726m relating to the unfinanced portion of approved 2020-21 capital
budget carry forwards (i.e. the amount funded from borrowing) of £8.531m



£91k reduction in unfunded capital expenditure associated with the reported
net underspend (after budget carry-forwards) of £189k.

Capital budget carry-forwards of £8.531m were approved as part of the 2020-21
Capital Outturn report presented to the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. These
carry-forwards relate to the re-profiling of previously approved budget expenditure,
from 2020-21 to 2021-22, in respect of the following capital schemes:
 Regeneration and Investment - carry forward £4,400k (£4,400k unfinanced)
 Lillyhall Infrastructure - carry forward £1,763k (£491k unfinanced)
 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants - carry forward £555k (£0k unfinanced)
 Workington - Towns Funding Scheme - carry forward £482k (£14k
unfinanced)
 Strategic Acquisitions - carry forward £379k (£299k unfinanced)
 Brow Top Enhancement Schemes - carry forward £374k (£314k unfinanced)
 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes - carry forward £160k
(£59k unfinanced)
 Maryport Regeneration - HAZ- carry forward £106k (£0k unfinanced)
 Kirkgate Centre Contribution - carry forward £100k (£100k unfinanced)
 Other schemes - carry forward £212k (£49k unfinanced).

7.0 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates in 2020-21
7.1

Interest rate forecasts provided by the Authority’s Treasury advisors (Link Asset
Services) and included in the TMSS and Mid-year update, expected only gradual
rises in medium and longer-term fixed borrowing rates during 2020-21 and the two
subsequent financial years. Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the
cheaper form of borrowing over the period. Table 3 shows the PWLB borrowing rate
forecasts included in the TMSS and the updated forecast included in the Mid-year
update report. The latter was issued following publication of the quarterly Bank of
England Monetary Policy Report in August 2020 and the decisions and forward
guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on
4 August.

Page 35

Table 3: Forecast interest rates 2020-2023
PWLB Borrowing Rates1
Quarter
ending

Mar-20
Jun-20
Sep-20
Dec-20
Mar-21
Jun-21
Sep-21
Dec-21
Mar-22
Jun-22
Sep-22
Dec-22
Mar-23

Bank Rate %
5 year %
TMSS

Mid- Yr

0.75
0.75
0.75
0.75
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.25
1.25
1.25
1.25

0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10

10 year %

TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr

2.40
2.40
2.50
2.50
2.60
2.70
2.80
2.90
2.90
3.00
3.10
3.20
3.20

1.90
1.90
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10

2.70
2.70
2.70
2.80
2.90
3.00
3.10
3.20
3.20
3.30
3.30
3.40
3.50

2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.20
2.20
2.20
2.30
2.30
2.30

25 year %
TMSS

3.30
3.40
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.70
3.70
3.80
3.90
4.00
4.00
4.10
4.10

50 year %

Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr

2.50
2.50
2.50
2.50
2.60
2.60
2.60
2.70
2.70
2.70
2.70

3.20
3.30
3.30
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.60
3.70
3.80
3.90
3.90
4.00
4.00

2.30
2.30
2.30
2.30
2.40
2.40
2.40
2.50
2.50
2.50
2.50

1Certainty

rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates apply to
authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term borrowing and
associated capital spending.

7.2

Graph 1 along with the graph and tables in Appendix B show, for a selection of
maturity periods, the high and low points for PWLB certainty maturity rates, the
average rates, spreads and individual rates at the start and the end of the financial
year. The borrowing rates shown in table 3 are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate
(standard new loan rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most
authorities since 2012.
Graph 1: PWLB borrowing rates 2020-21

Page 36

Movement in PWLB certainty rates April to September 2020
7.3

PWLB rates are offered at a fixed margin above the Government’s cost of
borrowing, as measured by gilt (UK Government bonds) yields. The main influences
on gilt yields are the bank rate, inflation expectations and movements in US
treasury yields.

7.4

After falling to historically low rates during 2019-20, PWLB rates across the yield
curve varied within a relatively narrow range between April and July 2020, before
rising during August and early September at the longer end of the yield curve.

7.5

That increase came in two periods. The first, in the second week of August, was on
the back of hopes for fresh US stimulus. This saw investors switch monies out of
government bonds and into equities. The second shift, higher at the longer end of
the curve, came in the latter stages of the month as investors reacted to the
announcement of the tweak to the Federal Reserve’s inflation target. Despite moves
further out in the yield curve, rates at the short end remained anchored on the basis
of no fundamental change to the interest rate outlook.

7.6

At 30 September 2020, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at
2.4% (30.9.19: 1.67%), up marginally from 2.34% at the beginning of the financial
year. The 25-year rate ended the period at 2.56%. This compares with a rate of
2.6% at the beginning of April 2019 and 1.83% at the end of September 2019. The
forecast rates for September included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities
were 3.3% and 3.4% respectively.
Movement in PWLB certainty rates October to March

7.7

The second half of 2020-21 saw a further upward spike in rates in mid-November.
This was followed by a sharp rise in gilt yields and PWLB rates in quarter 4 of 202021 driven by expectations of economic recovery boosted by the rapid progress of
the UK’s vaccination programme.

7.8

At 31 March 2021, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate (gilt plus 80bp) for new loans
stood at 1.99% (fixed) compared to 2.40% at 30 September (inclusive of the 180bp
margin above gilts). The 25-year rate ended the year at 2.19% compared to 2.56%
at 30 September 2020. This compares with updated forecasts included in the Midyear report for 50 and 25-year maturities at the end of 2020-21 of 2.3% and 2.5%
respectively.
Decrease in the margin over gilt yields – 26 November

7.9

In addition to the impact of movements in gilt prices, PWLB rates also remain
subject to ad-hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change (up or down) the margin
over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates. This is illustrated by the 100 basis point
increase implemented by the Treasury on 9 October 2019, the partial reversal of
this increase for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020 and the 100bp
reduction implemented on 26 November 2020 alongside new PWLB lending terms.
Following the reduction in margin implemented in November 2020, Standard Rate
loans are now priced at gilt plus 100 basis points and Certainty Rate loans at gilt
plus 80 basis points.

Page 37

7.10 The revised PWLB lending terms introduced in November 2020, alongside the
100bp reduction in Standard and Certainty rates, followed the conclusion of HM
Treasury’s consultation on future PWLB lending terms that took place between
March and July 2020. The aim of that consultation was to develop a proportionate
and equitable way to prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans to buy
commercial assets primarily for yield, without impeding their ability to pursue service
delivery, housing, and regeneration under the prudential regime.
7.11 The changes made to the PWLB’s lending terms in November 2020, mean the
PWLB will no longer lend to local authorities that plan to buy commercial assets
primarily for yield. This restriction applies on a ‘whole plan’ basis meaning the
PWLB will not lend to an authority that includes, anywhere in its capital plans, the
acquisition of investment assets primarily for yield, regardless of whether the
transaction would notionally be financed from a source other than the PWLB. The
PWLB’s guidance for applicants also makes it clear that local authorities must not
pursue a strategy of using private borrowing or internal borrowing to support
investment in an asset that the PWLB would not support and then refinancing or
externalising this with PWLB loans.
7.12 During the second half of 2019, there was much speculation that bond markets
were in a bubble that was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very
low levels. The context for this was heightened expectations that the US could have
been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations
of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact
of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low
levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these
conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.
7.13 While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the
last 30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This
means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the
gradual lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial
markets over the last 30 years.
7.14 Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this resulted in many bond yields up to
10 years turning negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there was, at times, an
inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10-year yields fell below shorter-term
yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.
7.15 Gilt yields had therefore, already been on a generally falling trend up until the
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields initially
spiked upwards in March, yields fell sharply in response to major western central
banks taking rapid policy action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets
during March and starting massive quantitative easing driven purchases of
government bonds. These actions also acted to put downward pressure on
government bond yields at a time when there was a huge and quick expansion of
government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such
unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields
to rise sharply.

Page 38

7.16 At the start of 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 8 years were negative: however, since
then all gilt yields have become positive and have risen sharply, especially in
medium and longer-term periods. The main driver of these increases has been
investors becoming progressively more concerned at the way that inflation has risen
sharply in major western economies during 2021, and expectations of further
increases in inflation. There is also significant investor concern that the US Federal
Reserve (the Fed.) is taking a too laid-back view that this inflation is purely
transitory and that it will subside, without the need for the Fed. to take any action to
tighten monetary policy. This could mean that rates will need to rise faster and
sharper if inflation were to get out of control.
7.17 Looking ahead, current forecasts anticipate little upward movement in PWLB rates
over the next three years as the Bank of England is not expected to raise the Bank
Rate above 0.25% during this period, as inflation is not expected to be sustainably
over 2%.

8.0 Borrowing Strategy for 2020-21
8.1

In recent years, the Council has maintained an under-borrowed position. This
means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR)
has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising cash supporting the Council’s
reserves and favourable in-year cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the
need to borrow up to the level of the CFR.

8.2

This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk
by postponing borrowing and reducing its external investment balances. The policy
of avoiding new borrowing by utilising cash balances, has served the Council well
and is considered prudent in light of low investment returns and the ongoing
counterparty risk considerations which have endured since the 2008 financial crisis.

8.3

Low investment returns (see section 10) also means there remains a cost of carry on
any new long-term borrowing not immediately used to finance capital expenditure as
this would have caused a temporary increase in cash balances and would have
incurred a revenue cost reflecting the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and
investment returns.

8.4

The borrowing strategy adopted in 2020-21 was for the Council to continue with this
policy during to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective
management of its interest rate exposures. In managing interest rate exposures,
interest rates were closely monitored throughout the year and a pragmatic strategy
adopted based upon the following principles:




if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and
short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing would have been
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term
borrowing would have been considered.
if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in
long and short term rates than expected (e.g. due to an acceleration in the
start date and the rate of increase in central rates in the US and UK; a
greater tha expected increase in global economic activity or a sudden

Page 39

increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position would have been reappraised with the most likely action being to draw down fixed rate funding
whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the next few
years.

9.0

Borrowing Activity in 2020-21

9.1

A summary of borrowing transactions undertaken during 2020-21 is included in the
following table (table 4).
Table 4: External borrowing activity during 2020-21
New
Borrowing
£’000

Borrowing
Repaid
£’000

Other
Movements
£’000

17,247

0

(684)

0

16,563

31

0

0

0

31
54
16,648

01-Apr-20
£’000

31-Mar-21
£’000

Long-term
PWLB – fixed rates
Short-term
Local Bonds
Trust Funds

54

0

0

0

17,332

0

(684)

0

9.2

The Council did not undertake any new borrowing, premature repayments or
rescheduling of existing borrowing during 2020-21. Scheduled loan repayments of
£684k were made during the year to March 2021.

9.3

The Council’s 2020-21 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2020-21 of up to £6.61m to fund the
Council’s capital programme. It also assumed additional borrowing of up to £4.89m
in 2019-20. Actual new borrowing in 2019-20 was £2.5m.

9.4

As a result of the deferment of borrowing in 2019-20 and the changes included in
the Council’s revised 2020-21 capital programme, including the re-profiling of
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated (maximum)
external borrowing requirements in 2020-21 were subsequently revised to £7.23m.
This figure included £1.4m of borrowing in respect of unfinanced capital expenditure
(i.e. amounts funded from borrowing) incurred in prior years. A further £221k of
planned capital expenditure was budgeted to be met from internal borrowing.

9.5

The actual amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing in 2020-21 was
£234k compared to the revised budget of £6,051k. A variance of £5,817k. Of this
£5,726k has been was carried forward to 2021-22. The in-year expenditure of
£234k was met from internal borrowing.

9.6

As noted above, the Council’s policy is to use internal borrowing to avoid or
postpone the timing of any new borrowing, in circumstances where it considered
prudent to do so, having regard to its liquidity requirements and the effective
management of interest rate exposures.

Page 40

9.7

In 2020-21, the reported underspend against the capital budget, coupled with the
timing of capital expenditure during the year and other positive in year cash flows,
enabled the Council to continue with this policy. This has allowed the Council to
meet its liquidity requirements by utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances
and favourable in year cash flows without the need to borrow externally up to the
level of the CFR.

9.8

As a consequence, during the year to March 2021, the Council has maintained an
under borrowed position. At 31 March 2021, the level of under borrowing was
£4.49m, compared to £4.80m at 31 March 2020. Further information regarding the
movement in the CFR and the level of under borrowing is set out in Appendix A
(Prudential indicators).

9.9

At 31 March 2021, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed rate:
 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (31 March 2020: £8.0m)
 annuity loans of £1.460m (31 March 2020: £1.547m)
 EIP loans of £7.103m (31 March 2020: £7.700m).

9.10 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio
range from 1.95% to 9.5%. At 31 March 2021, the weighted average rate of interest
payable on the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio stood at 5.05% (31 March 2020:
4.97%). Whilst this remains above current rates applicable to new PWLB borrowing
(see Appendix B) - reflecting the historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loans
portfolio - the differential between new and premature redemption rates meant
rescheduling remained unviable throughout 2020-21.
9.11 At 31 March 2021, the ‘fair value’ of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio, measured
using PWLB premature repayment rates, was £31.171m (31 March 2020:
£35.832m).The difference of £14.608m (31 March 2020 £18.585m) – between this
and the principal outstanding of £16.563m (31 March 2020: £17.247m) reflects:
i. the premium that would be payable to repay those loans prematurely of
£14.404m (2019: £18.381m), plus
ii. interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.204m
(2020: £0.204m).
9.12 At 31 March 2021, the weighted average life of the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio
was approximately 21 years (31 March 2020: 21 years). The weighted average time
to maturity of these loans was 25 years (31 March 2020: 25 years).

10.0 Investment Rates in 2020-21
10.1 Investment returns which had been exceptionally low during 2019-20 fell further
during 2020-21 to near zero and in some cases into negative territory.
10.2 Forecasts included in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21
was for the Bank Rate to start the year at 0.75%, rising to 1.00% by March 2020
and to 1.25% by the end of the forecast period (2022-23). However, the emergence
of the Covid-19 pandemic invalidated these forecasts. Revised forecasts included in

Page 41

the Mid-year update included no changes in the Bank Rate over the forecast period.
The updated forecast, issued in August, took into account the Bank of England’s:
 decision in March 2020 to cut the bank rate, first to 0.25% and then to
0.10% in order to counter the hugely negative impact of the national
lockdown on the economy
 August Monetary Policy Report and the decisions and forward guidance
issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on 4
August.
10.3 As noted above, in addition to the decision to cut Bank Rate and expand its
quantitative easing programme, the Bank of England and the Government also
introduced new programmes to supply the banking system and the economy with
massive amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses
to survive the lockdown. The Government also supplied huge amounts of finance to
local authorities to pass on to businesses. This meant that for most of the year there
was much more liquidity in financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with
the consequent effect that investment earnings rates plummeted.
10.4 The cuts made to the Bank Rate on 11 March and 19 March 2020, saw sharp falls
in rates at the short end of the yield curve with the 7-day rate falling by around
44bps during this period. At 31 March 2020, the 7-day LIBID rate stood at 0.006%
compared to 0.57% at 1 April 2019 and 0.46% at 10 March 2020. Since then
overnight and 7-day LIBID rates remained broadly stable during the first six months
of 2020-21.
10.5 Between April and September 2020, the overnight LIBID rate fluctuated between a
high of -0.06% and a low of -0.08%. The average overnight rate for the six months
to September 2020 was -0.07%. This compares with an average of 0.55% for the
corresponding period last year and an average for the financial year 2019-20 of
0.52%.
10.6 Over the same period, the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.005% and a
low of -0.08%. The average 7-day rate for the six months to September was 0.06%. This compares with an average of 0.57% for the corresponding period last
year and 0.53% for the year to March 2020.
10.7 In contrast, investment rates for terms of three months and longer were on a
declining trend through most of the first six months of 2020-21 with falls of between
51 and 68 basis points recorded across the curve between April and September.

Page 42

Graph 2: Investment Rates in 2020-21

10.8 Shorter-term investment rates remained broadly stable over the second half of
2020-21. Between October 2020 and March 2021, the 7-day rate fluctuated
between a high of -0.07% and a low of -0.10% and the overnight rate between a
high of -0.07% and a low of -0.09%.
10.9 The average 7-day rate for this period was -0.09% and the overnight rate average 0.08%. The average 7-day LIBID rate for 2020-21 as a whole was -0.07% (2019-20:
0.53%) and the overnight rate -0.08% (2019-20: 0.52%). The overnight rate closed
the year at -0.09% (31 March 2020: -0.07%) and the 7-day rate at -0.08% (31 March
2020: 0.01%).
10.10 Investment rates for terms of three months and longer fell further during the second
half of 2020-21, although the reductions of between four and eight basis points,
meant this was at a much slower pace than experienced over the first half of the
year. After reaching lows in late December/early January, modest increases in
longer-term rates in the final quarter of 2020-21 saw rates close the year marginally
(1 to 3 basis points) above those at the beginning of October.

11.0 Investment strategy
11.1 The Council’s investment policy is set having regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on
Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third edition)
issued in February 2018 and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services:
Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (‘the Treasury Management
Code’). The primary objectives of the Council’s treasury investment activity are to
ensure:
 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital sum
invested from loss)

Page 43



second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained (i.e. ensuring funds
invested are available to meet expenditure when needed).

11.2 The policy for 2020-21 was set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
and Investment Strategy approved by Council on 4 March 2020. The contents of
this policy include:
 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments may
be placed, including the use of credit ratings and other sources of information
to assess credit and counterparty risk
 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 limits on the amount that may be invested with any single institution or group
of institutions
 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently committed.
11.3

In the current economic climate and in light of the Council’s forecast liquidity
requirements, the investment strategy for 2020-21 considered it appropriate to keep
investment terms short and to retain the current upper limit on investment maturities
of 12 months on all new investments.

11.4

Continued concerns over counterparty risks promoted a cautious approach,
whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk
considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to borrowing rates.

12.0 Investment Outturn for 2020-21
12.1 Investment activity during the year - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of
the Councils Treasury Management and Investment Strategies, is summarised in
the following table:
Table 5: Investment activity during 2020-21
Credit
Rating

1 April
2020
£’000

Investments
Made

Repaid

£’000

£’000

31 March
2021

31 March
2021

£’000

£’000

Specified Investments
Call Accounts
Call Accounts
Term Accounts (DMO)
Money Market Funds

AA-

1,386

9,989

(11,375)

0

0

A+/A/AAAAAA

1,750
0
5,856

35,422
117,415
74,020

(29,552)
(117,415)
(72,615)

0
0
0

7,620
0
7,261

11

0

0

1

12

9,003

236,846

(230,957)

1

14,893

Non Specified Investments
Equity Shares

Not rated

12.2 Investment activity during the year complied with the Council’s approved treasury
strategy and the Council had no liquidity difficulties. In keeping with MHCLG’s
guidance on local authority investments, the Council maintained a sufficient level of
liquidity through use of money market funds, call and fixed term deposits with HM

Page 44

Government’s Debt Management Office (DMO). All (specified) investments made
during 2020-21 had a maximum maturity not exceeding 365 days (from the date of
acquisition).
12.3

Over the course of 2020-21, the Council’s average short-term investment balance of
internally managed funds was £24.7m (2019-20: £13.6m). These funds earned an
average rate of return of approximately 0.07% (2019-20: 0.65%). This compares
favourably with the Council’s benchmark return (the average 7- day LIBID rate) over
the year of -0.07% (2019-20: 0.53%). The amount of interest and dividends earned
on investments (long-term and short-term) listed in table 5 and credited to the
general fund during 2020-21 was £17,448 (2019-20: £85,757). This compares to a
revised budget for 2020-21 of £20,000.

12.4

Underpinning the significant increase in average investment balances during 202021 compared to 2019-20, were the cash flows associated with measures
implemented by central government in response to Covid-19 pandemic. This
included the upfront receipt of grant funding in respect of various financial support
packages administered by the Authority on behalf of central government, as well as
a number of other measures aimed at alleviating pressures on local authority cash
flows during the pandemic.

12.5 During 2020-21, the reductions in market yields on shorter-term investments
contributed to a reduction in yields achieved on Money Market Funds (MMFs). Over
the course of the year, investments in Money Market Funds accounted for around
60% of investments placed, with yields achieved on those investments falling from
between 0.21% and 0.40% at the beginning of the year to between 0% and 0.01%
at 31 March 2021. The falls in market yields also saw a number of market
operators, including the DMOs’ Debt Management Account Deposit Facility, offer nil
or negative rates for very short-term maturities during 2020-21. However, where it
was necessary for the Authority to place funds with the DMO, it was able to avoid
negative rates through the considered management of investment maturities.
Credit Risk
12.6 The Council’s prime policy objective of its investment activity is to ensure the
security of principal sums invested.
12.7 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing
restrictions and limits on:
 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the
creditworthiness of the counterparty
 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the financial
standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty
 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on the
Council’s list of approved counterparties.

Page 45

12.8

Whilst published credit ratings remain the primary means of assessing the credit
worthiness of counterparties, the Council continues to make use of other sources
of information on credit risk before making investment decisions. This information
includes:


ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating over the
medium term)



credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or upgrading of
the credit rating could be imminent)



sovereign ratings and support mechanisms



credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market sentiment
regarding the credit risk associated with a particular institution and an early
warning of potential creditworthiness problems which may only belatedly lead
to actual changes in credit ratings).

12.9 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2020-21, all investments
made during the year were:


restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call accounts)
with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across all three of the
main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or
equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns)



for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject to a
maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

12.10 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management Office
(DMO), the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or group of
institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m. For funds placed with
the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility, the current limit is £12m.
12.11 During April 2020 and January 2021, the amount of funding paid to the Authority as
part of central government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic meant it was not
possible to place those funds with institutions on the Council’s list of approved
counterparties without breaching the approved counterparty limit with one or more
of those institutions. In order to minimise the counterparty risks created by this
situation, where the temporary investment of this additional funding could not be
accommodated within agreed counterparty limits, all excess amounts were placed
with HM. Treasury’s Debt Management Office (DMO).
12.12 This action required temporary suspension of the Authority’s £12m counterparty
limit on deposits placed with the DMO during the periods:


1 to 7 April 2021, coinciding with the receipt of £42m in respect of the Small
Business Fund, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund and the Local
Authority Discretionary Grant Fund, and



15 to 24 January 2021, following the receipt of £17.9m related to the
Business support package for January lockdown and LRSG schemes.

Page 46

13.0 Prudential Indicators
13.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other
forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council must follow in
setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to which the Council is
required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act.
13.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management
Codes and accompanying the sector guidance, include a number of other key
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:
 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the expectations
of the most likely maximum external debt for the year
 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR) - the undeylying need to borrow for capital
purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional
CFR for current and the following two financial years
 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of
more than 365 days
 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings.
13.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary and other indicators and limits
required by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy
for 2020-21 and approved by members on 4 March 2020.
13.4 Updated indicators for 2020-21 were included in the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2021-22 approved by
members on 3 March 2021.
13.5 During 2020-21, the Council complied with the limits established by the Prudential
and Treasury indicators included in its Treasury Management & Investment
Strategy for 2020-21. Further information relating to the Prudential and treasury
indicators for 2020-21 are set out in Appendix A.

14.0 Delivery arrangements
14.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.

15.0 Implications and Impact
Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes
15.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.

Page 47

Finance/Resource implications
15.2

Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report.
Legal and governance implications

15.3 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the Council to report regularly
on specific aspects of its treasury management activities.
Risk analysis
15.4 The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management
activities will be measured. Risk implications associated with the Authority’s
treasury activity is considered in the main body of the report.
Increasing satisfaction and service
15.5

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Equality impacts

15.6

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Health and Safety impacts

15.7

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts

15.8

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Environmental/sustainability impacts

15.9

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Other significant implications

15.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report.

Page 48

Appendices attached to this report
Appendix
A

Title of appendix
Prudential and treasury indicators

B

Interest rate movements

C

GDP and inflation

Background documents available
Name of background document

Where it is available

Treasury Management Strategy Statement &
Investment Strategy 2020-21

Council Agenda 4 March 2020

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2020-21

Council Agenda 4 March 2020

Report author(s) and contact officer(s):
Barry Lennox
Financial Services Manager
Telephone no: 01900-702586
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 49

Appendix A
Prudential and treasury indicators
1.0

Indicators required by the Prudential Code

1.1

The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the affordability,
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by
setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential
indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices are
in accordance with good practice.

1.2

The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to
support and record local decision-making. They are not designed to be comparative
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose.

1.3

The Council’s performance compared to the limits and estimates set out in the
Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 2020-21 Midyear Treasury Update Report are summarised in the following sections.

2.0

Actual capital expenditure

2.1

Table A shows the actual capital expenditure incurred during 2020-21.
Table A: Actual capital expenditure

Capital Expenditure - Capital Outturn

2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Approved

£000

£000

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual2
£000

2,090

13,295

11,793

3,073

0

0

0

(98)

2,090

13,295

11,793

2,975

19

572

647

318

Capital grants & contributions

1,744

5,880

5,001

2,350

Revenue

(190)

9

94

179

Total expenditure financed in year

1,573

6,461

5,742

2,847

Supported borrowing

(11)

0

0

0

Unsupported borrowing

528

6,787

6,051

128

0

47

0

0

2,090

13,295

11,793

2,975

Capital Expenditure -

Other2

General Fund Capital Expenditure
Financed by:
Capital receipts

Unfinanced capital expenditure:

Leasing
Total financed & unfinanced
1
2

2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in March 2021);
Other capital expenditure comprises items monitored via the revenue budget, write-off of previously capitalised
costs and accounting adjustments required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

Page 50

2.2

Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 and
includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper
practices. It also includes any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003
(as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 16(2) of
the 2003 Act.

2.3

The variance of £8.818m between the capital outturn position (£2.975m) and the
2020-21 revised estimate (£11.793m) comprises:
 budget carry forwards of £8.531m
 net variance (underspend) of £189k.
 the write-off to revenue of previously capitalised costs associated with
cancelled capital schemes and the reversal of associated financing
transactions - £265k, less
 capital expenditure monitored through the revenue budget and other
adjustments of £167k.

2.4

Approved budget carry forwards of £8.531m reflect changes to the expected timing
of expenditure on individual schemes (rather than the overall amount of
expenditure) and subsequent budget revisions to reflect the re-profiling of
expenditure across the 2020-21 and 2021-22 financial years. Further details relating
to the capital outturn position for 2020-21 are set out in the Capital Outturn report
considered by the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. The net variance against
the capital budget after accounting for budget carry-forwards was £189k.

3.0

Actual Capital Financing Requirement

3.1

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s underlying
need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of capital
expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants,
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). It does not necessarily
correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position, which is determined in
accordance with an authority’s treasury management strategy and practices. Table
B shows the Council’s actual capital financing requirement at 31 March 2021.

Page 51

Table B: Capital financing requirement
2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Approved
estimate
£000

£000
CFR at 1 April

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual
£000

22,741

22,897

22,136

22,136

-

6,816

0

0

CFR at 1 April -total

22,741

29,713

22,136

22,136

CFR at 31 March

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

(605)

5,446

4,817

(1,000)

517

6,834

6,051

234

0

0

(100)

(106)

(1,122)

(1,388)

(1,134)

(1,128)

0

0

0

0

CFR IFRS 16 - Leases

Movement in CFR
Movement represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure
Adjustment to unfinanced
Less MRP
Less Voluntary set aside
1

expenditure2

(605)
Movement in CFR
5,446
4,817
(1,000)
Updated to reflect 2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in
March 2021; 2 Adjustment in respect of prior year expenditure following the decision to
discontinue the Reedlands Road scheme

4.0

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

4.1

A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence is
that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose. In order to
ensure this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next
two financial years.

4.2

This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years
but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross debt
refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit arrangements).
Table C compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR.

Page 52

Table C: Gross debt & the CFR
2019/20
Actual at
31.3.20
£000
PWLB

2020/21
Approved
(max)
£000

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual at
31.3.21
£000

17,247

25,475

23,792

16,563

Other borrowing

85

85

85

85

Lease Liabilities

0

6,647

0

0

Total debt

17,332

32,207

23,877

16,648

CFR at 1 April

22,741

29,713

22,136

22,136

517

6,834

5,951

128

Less: MRP

(1,122)

(1,388)

(1,134)

(1,128)

CFR at 31 March

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

(Under)/Over borrowing

(4,804)

(2,952)

(3,076)

(4,488)

Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure

Position at 31 March 2021 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s loan portfolio at
30.9.20 and new borrowing to fund the revised capital budget for 2020-21
1

4.3

At 31 March 2021, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing
requirement by £4.488m. This compares with an under-borrowed position at 31
March 2020 of £4.804m. The decrease of £0.316m during 2020-21 is represented
by:
 a reduction in the CFR of £1.128m, reflecting amounts set aside from
revenue in 2020-21 (the minimum revenue provision) to repay debt, plus
 a reduction to the CFR of £106k in respect of the write-off to revenue of
previously capital expenditure on capital schemes cancelled during the year
and the subsequent unwinding of previous financing transactions, less
 an increase in the CFR of £0.234m as a result of unfinanced capital
expenditure incurred during the year, and
 scheduled repayments of external (PWLB) borrowing of £0.684m.

5.0

Authorised limit for external debt

5.1

The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). It
imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-term
liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable Borrowing
Limit is prohibited by section 2(1) (a) of the Local Government Act 2003.

5.2

The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the Operational
Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen cash
movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other longterm liabilities.

Page 53

Table D: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2020/21
Approved
£000
Borrowing
Other long-term

liabilities1

Total

2020/21
Revised
£000

31.3.21
Actual
£000

2020/21
Actual (max)
£000

31,000

30,000

16,648

17,332

7,500

0

0

0

38,500

30,000

16,648

17,332

1 element

of the Authorised Limit for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed to
reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of IFRS
16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.

6.0

Operational boundary for external debt

6.1

The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external debt
is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum external debt
of a local authority according to probable events (that is, the most likely (prudent)
but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum level of external
debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary links directly to the
Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing
requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all purposes, but without
the additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator
separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities.
Table E: Operational boundary for external debt
2020/21
Approved
£000
Borrowing
Other long-term

liabilities1

Total

2020/21
Revised
£000

31.3.21
Actual
£000

2020/21
Actual (max)
£000

29,500

28,000

16,648

17,332

7,000

0

0

0

36,500

28,000

16,648

17,332

1 element

of the Operational Boundary for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed
to reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of
IFRS 16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.

7.0

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

7.1

This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income).
Table F: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
2019/20
Actual
%
Ratio

12.7

2020/21 Approved
2020/21
Estimate
Revised Estimate
%
%
16.9

Page 54

11.3

2020/21
Actual
%
8.0

7.2

Financing costs comprise the aggregate of:
 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing
 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities
 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to the
amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers
 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments
falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment
Strategies)
 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives
 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions
 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be met
from government grants and local taxpayers.

7.3

Actual figures for Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-specific grant income and
expenditure’.

7.4

In 2020-21, the total Net Revenue Stream used in the calculation of this indicator
was significantly impacted by:
 additional Section 31 (s31) grants received by the Authority to compensate
for the loss of business rates income generated by the introduction of a
number of additional and extended business rates reliefs, and
 the receipt of a number of other grants provided by central government in
response to the Covid-19 pandemic (for example, Covid-19 emergency
funding and amounts received under the sales fees and charges
compensation scheme).

7.5

The Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream, excluding the impact of
Covid-19 emergency funding, grant receivable under the sales fees and charges
compensation scheme, and additional s31 grant receivable in connection with
additional and extended business rates reliefs and the Local Tax Income Guarantee
scheme is 12.9%.

8.0

Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code

8.1

In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code, there are also a
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and
accompanying sector guidance. These are:
 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing
 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of more than
over 365 days.

8.2

These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets)
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing
risks.

Page 55

9.0

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

9.1

This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or
high interest rates.

9.2

It is calculated as the amount of borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage
of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.
Table G: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period
At 31.3.20
Actual
%

Lower limit
2020/21
%

Upper limit
2020/21
%

At 31.3.21
Actual
%

Under 12 months

4.44

0

30

4.67

12 months to 2 years

3.99

0

20

4.21

2 years to 5 years

12.29

0

20

12.98

5 years to 10 years

15.39

0

30

13.86

10 years to 20 years

15.42

0

40

15.27

20 years to 30 years

2.31

0

40

0.96

30 years to 40 years

46.16

0

80

48.05

40 years to 45 years

0

0

80

0

10.0 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 365 days
10.1 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 days is
required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the maturing
of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums invested for periods
longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss
that might arise as a result of its having to seek early repayment or redemption of
principal sums invested.
Table H: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days

Principal sums invested > 365 days

2019/20
Actual
£000

2020/21
Approved
£000

2020/21
Revised
£000

11

20

20

1

2020/21
Actual1
£000
12

Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 31
March 2021 is £1k

Page 56

Appendix B

PWLB certainty rates 2020-21

At 1.4.20
At 31.3.21
Low
Date
High
Date
Average
Spread

1-Years
%

4½- 5 Years
%

9½-10 Years
%

1.89
0.79
0.65
04/01/21
1.94
08/04/20
1.43
1.29

1.92
1.18
0.72
11/12/20
1.99
08/04/20
1.50
1.27

2.10
1.71
1.00
11/12/20
2.28
11/11/20
1.81
1.28

24½- 25
Years
%
2.10
2.19
1.53
11/12/20
2.86
11/11/20
2.33
1.33

49½ - 50
Years
%
0.54
1.99
1.32
11/12/20
2.71
11/11/20
2.14
1.39

Money market investment rates 2020-21 (LIBID)

At 1.4.20

Bank
Rate
0.10

At 31.3.21

0.10

-0.08

-0.08

-0.04

-0.01

0.04

High

0.10

0.00

0.14

0.56

0.62

0.77

High date

01/04/20

02/04/20

20/04/20

08/04/20

14/04/20

21/04/20

Low

0.10

-0.10

-0.11

-0.10

-0.10

-0.05

Low date

01/04/20

31/12/20

29/12/20

23/12/20

21/12/20

11/01/21

Average

0.10

-0.07

-0.05

0.01

0.07

0.17

Spread

0.00

0.10

0.25

0.66

0.73

0.83

7 day

1month

3 month

6 month

1 year

0.00

0.11

0.45

0.59

0.71

Page 57

Appendix C
UK, US and EZ GDP growth

Inflation UK, US, Germany and France

Page 58

Allerdale Borough Council
Audit Committee - 13 September 2021
Council - 22 September 2021
Treasury Management – Annual Review 2020-21
Portfolio holder

Councillor Colin Sharpe
PH Finance and Legal

Report from

Catherine Nicholson, Chief Officer - Assets
Tel: 01900-702503
Email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Wards affected

None directly

Is this a key decision

No

1.0

The reason for the decision

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s treasury
management (TM) activities during 2020-21, the effects of TM decisions and
transactions executed in the past year and of compliance with its Treasury
Management Policy.

2.0

Recommendations

2.1

Members are recommended to note the contents of this report.

3.0

Background and Introduction

3.1

Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 require the Council to
produce an annual report on its treasury management activities and prudential and
treasury indicators for the financial year. This report satisfies that obligation and the
associated reporting requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the TM Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in
Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

Page 59

3.2

During 2020-21 the minimum reporting requirements - set out in the Council’s
Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment Strategy - were
that Council should receive the following reports:
 an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment
Strategy in advance of the year (Council - 4 March 2020)
 a mid-year treasury update report (Council - 9 December 2020)
 an annual review, following the end of the year, describing the activity
compared to the strategy (this report).

3.3

The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and
scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management policies and activities. This report is
important in that respect, as it provides:
 details of the Council’s treasury activities during the financial year and its
overall treasury position at 31 March 2021
 evidence of compliance with the treasury policies previously approved by
members.

3.4

To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s Treasury
Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management reports, including the
annual report, to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by
Council.

3.5

This report summarises the following:
 Economic background (section 4)
 Overall treasury position at 31 March 2021 (section 5)
 Borrowing requirement (section 6)
 PWLB borrowing rates (section 7)
 Borrowing strategy for 2020-21(section 8)
 Borrowing activity during 2020-21 (section 9)
 Investment rates (section 10)
 Investment strategy for 2020-21 (section 11)
 Investment outturn for 2020-21 (section 12)
 Prudential and Treasury Indicators (section 13 and Appendix A).

4.0

Economic Background
U.K.
Coronavirus.

4.1

The financial year 2020-21 will go down in history as being the year of the
pandemic. Over the course of the year, Covid-19 and the actions to contain it have
had a dramatic and rapidly changing impact on the UK economy and the economies
of countries around the world. In the UK, the first national lockdown in late March
2020 did huge damage to an economy that was unprepared for such an eventuality.
This caused an economic downturn that exceeded the one caused by the financial
crisis of 2008-09.

Page 60

4.2

The economy has however adapted well to accommodate subsequent lockdowns.
In comparison to the lockdown in the spring of 2020, the short second lockdown in
November did relatively little damage and by the time of the third lockdown in
January 2021, businesses and individuals had become more resilient in adapting to
working in new ways during a three-month lockdown. As a result, the economy
suffered much less damage than was caused in the first one. The advent of
vaccines starting in November 2020, were also a game changer and have
enormously boosted confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal
during the second half of 2021.

4.3

The way in which the UK and US have led the world in implementing a fast
programme of vaccination which promises to lead to a return to something
approaching normal life during the second half of 2021, has been instrumental in
speeding economic recovery and the reopening of the economy. In addition, the
household saving rate has been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March
2020, meaning there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up
for services in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels as soon
as they reopen. It is therefore expected that the UK economy could recover towards
pre-pandemic level of economic activity over the course of 2021.
110

Lockdowns

110

Hospitality
open

GDP (Feb. 2020 = 100)

105

105

Schools
open

100

100

95

95

90

90

Few
restrictions

85

85

Non-essential retail
open

80
75

80
75

Capital Economics Forecast

70

70
Jan-20

4.4

Apr-20

Jul-20

Oct-20

Jan-21

Apr-21

Jul-21

Oct-21

Jan-22

2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to an upswing in growth after the
ending of political uncertainty, following the decisive result of the general election in
December, settled the Brexit issue. However, the GDP statistics for quarter 4 were
disappointing, with growth remaining static at 0.0% growth (+1.1% y/y). Since then, the
whole world has changed as a result of the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic.

Page 61

4.5

Overall UK growth in quarter 1 of 2020 (January to March) was -2.8% (-2.2% compared
to quarter 1 of 2019). At the time, this was the largest drop in UK GDP since the third
quarter of 1979 as lockdown measures introduced from mid-March forced nonessential businesses to close and consumers to stay at home. However, the full
impact of the pandemic on economic growth did not emerge until quarter 2 (April to
June) when the economy contracted by -19.5% (-21.4% compared to the same quarter
a year ago). This was the largest quarterly contraction in the UK economy since Office
for National Statistics (ONS) quarterly records began in 1955 and reflects the impact of
measures introduced to limit transmission of the virus and the closedown of whole
sections of the economy.

4.6

In quarter 3 of 2020, (July to September) UK GDP increased by a record 16.9% as
lockdown restrictions were lifted and pent up demand was released into the
economy. However, while output in the services, production and construction
sectors increased by record amounts in quarter 3, GDP nevertheless remained
below quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2019 levels, before the impact of the coronavirus
pandemic was seen. After the strong growth recorded for quarter 3, a further shortlived lockdown in November contributed to a slow-down in the pace of growth. In
the last three months of 2020, the economy expanded 1.3%. For 2020 as whole, the
economy contracted by 9.8%, the steepest drop since consistent records began in
1948. This compares with growth of 1.4% in 2019.

4.7

Following the two-quarter period of growth at the end of 2020, the emergence of a
new variant of the virus and the re-introduction of Covid-related restrictions in
January, UK GDP fall by 1.6% in quarter 1 of 2021 (Jan to March). This left the
economy around 8.8% below its pre-pandemic levels at the end of 2019 (2019 Q4).
Compared with the same quarter a year ago, the UK economy fell by 6.1%.

4.8

The outlook for the UK economy remains uncertain. It is dependent on the evolution
of the pandemic and the measures taken to protect public health. It will also depend
on how governments, households, businesses and financial markets respond to
those developments. In the near term, and in the absence of most restrictions on
domestic economic activity, UK GDP is expected to recover over the remainder of
2021 and reach its pre-pandemic level in quarter 4 of 2021, as the impact of Covid
continues to dissipate and activity continues to be supported by government
spending.

4.9

Both the Government and the Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020, at
the height of the crisis, to provide support to financial markets to ensure their proper
functioning, and to support the economy and protect jobs.

4.10

Two emergency cuts in the Bank Rate occurred in March 2020. The first on 11 March
(from 0.75% to 0.25%) and the second on 19 March (from 0.25% to 0.1%). These cuts
were accompanied by an increase in quantitative easing (QE), to increase the Bank of
England’s holdings of UK government bonds and sterling non-financial investmentgrade corporate bonds by £200 billion. Two further tranches of quantitative easing of
£100bn and £150bn were announced in June and November 2020 to a total of
£895bn. The Government and the Bank also implemented an extensive range of other
fiscal and monetary policy measures aimed at protecting jobs, helping firms struggling
with cash flow problems and limiting any lasting damage to the economy.

Page 62

4.11 While the Bank Rate remained unchanged for the rest of the year, financial markets
were concerned that the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) could cut the
Bank Rate into negative territory. However, the Bank’s August Monetary Policy
report played down the prospects of using negative interest rates by suggesting that
while negative rates can work in some circumstances, it would be “less effective as
a tool to stimulate the economy” at this time when banks are worried about future
loan losses. It also has “other instruments available”, including QE and the use of
forward guidance. The Governor of the Bank of England also made it clear that he
thought that such a move would do more damage than good and that more
quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary.
4.12 Significantly, neither the minutes from the MPC’s November meeting, or the
November Monetary Policy Report, contained any reference to negative interest
rates, suggesting that the MPC still remained some way from being persuaded of
the case for such a policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than
saying that it “stands ready to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it
would take “whatever additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”.
4.13 At its February meeting, the Bank of England removed negative interest rates as a
possibility for at least six months after the findings of structured engagement
between the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and PRA-regulated firms found
that financial institutions were not ready to implement a negative bank rate over a
timeframe shorter than six months. The Bank did however request the PRA engage
with regulated firms to ensure that they commence preparations in order to
implement a negative bank rate at any point after six months. In making this
request, the MPC stressed that this move should not be interpreted as a signal that
the setting of negative rates was imminent or in prospect at any time. Therefore,
whilst this action will ensure negative rates remain part of the Bank’s ’Monetary
Policy Toolkit’ given the prospect that in six months’ time the economy should be
starting to grow strongly, this effectively means that negative rates occurring were
unlikely during the current downturn.
Average inflation targeting
4.14 2020-21 saw a major change adopted by the Bank of England in terms of
implementing its inflation target of 2%. In August, a key addition to the Bank’s
forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not
intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant
progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target
sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation rises to 2%
in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise the Bank
Rate until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be persistently above
target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate. This sets a high bar for raising the
Bank Rate with no increase in the Bank Rate currently expected before March
2023.
4.15 Inflation has been well under the Bank of England’s 2% target throughout 2020-21.
The twelve-month CPI inflation rate fell from 1.7% in quarter 1 (Jan to March) 2020
to 0.6% in quarters 2 and 3 and 0.5% in quarter 4. After rising to 0.7% in January
2021, it then fell to 0.4% in February before rising to 0.7% in March to return a rate
of 0.7% for quarter 1 of 2021. The below target rates of CPI inflation, during 2020-

Page 63

21, can, in large part, be accounted for by the direct and indirect effects of the
Covid-19 pandemic on the economy.
4.16 Since the year end, CPI inflation has risen sharply from 0.7% in March to 2.5% in
June and is projected by the Bank of England to rise temporarily to around 4% in
quarter 4 of 2021 and quarter 1 of 2022, before falling back to close to the 2%
target. This rise largely reflects the impact of the pandemic as the economy
recovers. This has led to higher energy and goods prices, which in turn reflects
rising commodity prices, transportation bottlenecks, constraints on production and
strong global demand for goods. However, the above-target CPI inflation is
expected to be temporary and, as commodity prices stabilise, global demand
rebalances and supply shortages ease, inflation is expected to fall back to close to
the 2% target in the medium term.
4.17 The sharp reductions in activity during 2020 lowered the demand for labour. Data
from the Labour Force Survey (LFS) showed that, despite the extensive take-up of
support from temporary government schemes, such as the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS),
redundancies and low levels of hiring contributed to both a fall in the employment
rate and rise in the unemployed rate since the start of the pandemic.
4.18 Figures for the period January to March 2021 show a significant increase in the
unemployment rate over the course of the preceding 12-months alongside falls in
the employment rate. The UK employment rate for those aged 16 to 64, in the three
months to March 2021 was estimated at 74.7%, 1.6 percentage points lower than a
year earlier. Meanwhile the Labour Force Survey (LFS) unemployment rate rose to
5.0% in the three months to March 2021. This is 0.9 percentage points higher than
a year earlier.
Government support.
4.19 Over the course of 2020-21, the Government and Bank of England announced
numerous fiscal and monetary policy measures to provide financial support
businesses and protect jobs. In addition to the reduction in the bank rate and
expansion of the Bank of England’s QE programme outlined above, these
measures have included:
 the Term Lending Scheme to enable banks to access cheap loans and
additional capacity to lend to businesses
 employment support schemes, most notably the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS)
and other measures
 government backed financial loan schemes
 other support for businesses including grants to business, business rates
relief and other tax measures.
4.20 Coupled with the reductions in tax revenues and increases in welfare payments
generated from the slowdown in economic activity, this support has come at a huge
cost in terms of the Government’s budget deficit. In 2020-21 government borrowing
is estimated at £300.3 billion, £243.1 billion more than in the same period last year.
This is equivalent to 14.3% of GDP and is the highest such ratio since the end of

Page 64

World War Two when it was 15.2% in the financial year to March 1946. Between
March 2020 and March 2021, government debt increased from 84% of GDP to
around 98% of GDP.
4.21 The Budget on 3 March 2021 increased fiscal support to the economy and
employment during 2021 and 2022, to be followed by substantial tax rises in the
following three years to help pay for the cost for the pandemic. This will help further
to strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic and return the
government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure and income
basis in 2025-26. This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further from 100%.
4.22 An area of concern though, is that the government’s debt is now twice as sensitive
to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to QE operations substituting fixed
long-term debt for floating rate debt. As a consequence there is a significant
incentive for the Government to promote the Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using
fiscal policy in conjunction with the monetary policy action by the Bank of England to
keep inflation from rising too high, and/or by amending the Bank’s policy mandate to
allow for a higher target for inflation.
Brexit
4.23 The final agreement of a trade deal between the UK and EU on 24 December 2020
has eliminated a significant downside risk for the UK economy. However, the initial
agreement only covers trade in goods so there is further work to be done on the
services sector where temporary equivalence has been granted in both directions
between the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent basis.
There was significant disruption to trade in January and February with complex
customs paperwork presenting a formidable barrier to trade. Whilst this appears to
have eased somewhat since then, it remains an area in need of further work to ease
difficulties that are still acute in some areas.
U.S.
4.24 Compared to the UK economy, the US economy suffered less damage due to the
pandemic and has been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020. After
falling by 5.1% in quarter 1 of 2020, GDP fell at a record annualised rate of 31.2% in
quarter 2 as the impact of the pandemic hit the economy hard. Following what was
the largest ever contraction, the economy rebounded strongly in quarter 3 to record
its biggest ever quarterly expansion of 33.8% (annualised). However, a rise in
Covid-19 cases and restrictions on activity during quarter 4 saw growth slow to
4.5%. Over 2020 as a whole, the economy shrank by 3.5% compared with growth of
1.9% in 2019. In quarter 1 of 2021, the continued economic recovery, reopening of
establishments, and ongoing government response to the pandemic, saw growth
pick up to 6.3%.
4.25 After peaking at 14.4% in April 2020, the unemployment rate was on a downward
trend over the remainder of 2020, dropping below 7% in the final quarter of 2020
(Oct to Dec). CPI Inflation remained below the Federal Reserve’s 2% target
throughout 2020 but rose in quarter 1 of 2021 to 2.6% in March 2021.
4.26 The Democrats won the presidential election in late 2020 and gained control of both
Congress and the Senate, although power is more limited in the latter. This enabled

Page 65

the Democrats to pass a $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March 2021 on
top of the $900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December.
These, together with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the target of giving
a first jab to over half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will
promote a rapid easing of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021.
The Democrats are also now negotiating to pass a $1trn fiscal stimulus package
aimed at renewing infrastructure over the next decade. Although this package is
longer-term, if passed, it would also help economic recovery in the near-term.
4.27 At its end of August meeting, the Federal Reserve (the Fed.) revised its inflation
target from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time-period.
That is, following periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%,
appropriate monetary policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2%
for some time so that inflation averages 2% over time and longer-term inflation
expectations remain well anchored at 2%. At the mid-September meeting the Fed.
added that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range until
labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on
track to moderately exceed 2% for some time."
4.28 This change is aimed at providing more stimulus for economic growth and higher
levels of employment and avoiding the danger of getting caught in a deflationary
“trap” like Japan. Given inflation has actually been under-shooting the Federal
Reserve’s 2% target significantly for most of the last decade (and this year),
financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the
pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. There is now some
expectation that where the Fed has led in changing its policy towards implementing
its inflation and full employment mandate, other major central banks will follow (as
the Bank of England has already done) by allowing inflation to run higher for longer,
even if they do not call it a policy of average inflation targeting as such.
4.29 The Fed. expects strong economic growth during 2021 to have only a transitory
impact on inflation, which explains why the majority of Fed. officials project US
interest rates to remain near-zero through to the end of 2023. The key message is
still that policy will remain unusually accommodative, with near-zero rates and asset
purchases continuing for several more years. This is likely to result in keeping
treasury yields at historically low levels.
4.30 However, financial markets in 2021 have been concerned that the sheer amount of
fiscal stimulus, on top of highly accommodative monetary policy, could be over-kill
leading to a rapid elimination of spare capacity in the economy and generating
higher inflation much quicker than the Fed. expects. They have also been
concerned as to how and when the Fed. will eventually wind down its programme of
monthly QE purchases of treasuries. These concerns have pushed treasury yields
sharply up in the US in 2021. It is also likely that they have exerted some upward
pressure on gilt yields in the UK.
Eurozone
4.31 Both the rollout and take up of vaccines was disappointingly slow in the EU in the
first few months of 2021 but has since been rapidly catching up. This delay will

Page 66

inevitably put back economic recovery. In quarter 3 (July to September) of 2020 the
economy had staged a rapid rebound from the sharp drop in GDP caused by the
first lockdowns. However, a second wave of the virus saw GDP contract slightly in
quarter 4 to end 2020 4.9% below its pre-pandemic level. After contracting by
another 0.3% in quarter 1 of 2021, recovery will now be delayed until quarter 3 of
2021. At its June 2021 meeting, the ECB forecast strong economic recovery with
growth of 4.6% and 4.7% in 2021 and 2022 respectively.
4.32 Inflation remained well under 2% during 2020-21 but is is likely to rise sharply to
around 2.5% for a short period during 2021. However, as this will be transitory, due
to one-off factors, it is likely to cause the ECB little concern.
4.33 In response to a downturn in Eurozone and global growth, the ECB cut its main
deposit rate further into negative territory from -0.4% to -0.5% in September 2019.
No additional cuts were made to the ECB’s main rate during 2020-21 and it is
currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into negative territory
from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible tool to
use.
4.34 Once coronavirus started having a major impact in Europe, the ECB took action in
March 2020 to expand its QE operations and other measures to help promote
expansion of credit and economic growth. This included increasing its planned
asset purchases for the year by €1,470bn, on top of the existing commitment of
€20bn per month. The new purchases consist of an additional €120bn within the
existing Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), and €1,350bn in the
Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP).
4.35 At its meeting in December, the ECB added a further €500bn to the Pandemic
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP), covering the purchase of government
and other bonds. It also extended the duration of the programme to March 2022 and
the reinvestment of principal payments from maturing securities purchased under
the PEPP scheme until at least the end of 2023. Three additional tranches of the
targeted longer-term refinancing operations (TLTRO), to provide cheap loans to
banks, were also approved, indicating that support will last beyond the impact of the
pandemic, implying indirect yield curve control for government bonds for some time
ahead.
4.36 The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn of quantitative easing, which started in March
2020, is providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like
Italy. There is therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain
this level of support. The March ECB meeting also took action to suppress the rise
in long bond yields by stepping up its monthly PEPP purchases. Meetings in April
and June confirmed these policies so monetary policy will remain highly
accommodative with no sign yet of tapering of asset purchases.
Asia
4.37 In China, a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in quarter 1 saw
strong economic recovery during the remainder of 2020. This has enabled it to
recover all of the contraction experienced in quarter 1 of 2020. Policy makers have
both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal
support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the
same time, China’s economy has benefited from the shift towards online spending

Page 67

by consumers in developed markets. These factors help to explain its comparative
outperformance compared to western economies.
4.38 However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more
infrastructure spending. After years of growth focused on this same area, any
further spending in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic
returns in the longer term. This could therefore, lead to a further misallocation of
resources that will weigh on growth in future years. After making a rapid recovery in
2020-21, growth is likely to be tepid in 2021-22.
4.39 In Japan, a third round of fiscal stimulus in early December took the total additional
fiscal spending this year, in response to the virus, close to 12% of pre-virus GDP.
This represents one of the largest national fiscal responses to the crisis. Coupled
with Japan’s relative success in containing the virus without draconian measures
and an acceleration of the roll out of vaccines in 2021, the government’s latest fiscal
effort should help ensure a strong recovery and a return to pre-virus levels by the
end of 2021, around the same time as the US and sooner than the Eurozone.
However, on the negative side, Japan has continued to struggle to get out of a
deflation trap, to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little
progress on fundamental reform of the economy
Global Growth
4.40 World growth was in recession in 2020 but should recover during 2021. Inflation is
unlikely to be a significant problem in most countries for some years due to the
creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand during the
coronavirus crisis.
4.41 Until recent years, global growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e.
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an
economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This has
boosted worldwide productivity and growth and, by lowering costs, has also
depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over
the last 30 years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has
unbalanced the world economy.
4.42 In March 2021, western democracies implemented limited sanctions against a few
officials in charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang. This led to a
much bigger retaliation by China that caused considerable consternation in western
countries. After the pandemic exposed how frail extended supply lines were around
the world, both factors are now likely to lead to a sharp retrenchment of economies
into two blocs of western democracies versus autocracies. It is, therefore, likely that
we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation
and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply
products and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from rates in
prior decades.

Page 68

5.0 Overall Treasury Position at 31 March 2021
5.1

The Council’s treasury position at the beginning and end of 2020-21 was as follows:
Table 1: Overall treasury position
31.3.20
Principal

Rate/
Return1

Av. Life

31.3.21
Principal

Rate/
Return1

Av. Life

£’000

%

Years

£’000

%

Years

17,247

4.97

21

16,563

5.05

21

85

0.00

<1

85

0.00

<1

17,332

4.95

-

16,648

5.02

-

Short-term investments

8,992

0.20

<1

14,881

0.01

<1

investments2

11

5.00

-

12

8.80

-

-

-

(3,301)

-

-

0.21

-

11,592

0.02

-

PWLB loans
Other borrowing
Total debt

Long-term

Bank overdraft less cash
Total investments

(1,551)
7,452

1 weighted

average rate on borrowing/investments at 31 March (for illustrative purposes only)
including ‘policy investments’ falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and
Investment Strategies
2 Not

5.2

The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised in
order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for
investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities.
Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are well established, both
through member reporting detailed in the introduction and through officer activity
detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

5.3

Items included in table 1 comprise borrowing and investments in financial instruments
held for treasury management purposes (i.e. investments made to support effective
treasury management activity) covered by the Authority’s Treasury Management and
Investment Strategies. Excluded from table 1 are:
 ‘service/policy investments’ in financial assets such as loans supporting service
outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures made for policy
reasons, (rather than for treasury management purposes); this includes the
Authority’s investment (loan notes) in Allerdale Investment Partnership LLP
 commercial investments in non-financial assets (for example, investment
property) held primarily or partially to generate a profit.

6.0 The Borrowing Requirement
6.1

The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is measured
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR represents the historic cost
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants,
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing).

Page 69

6.2

Capital expenditure that is not financed when incurred, through the application of
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will
increase the capital financing requirement. It will also give rise to a requirement to
make an annual charge to the general fund, known as the minimum revenue
provision (MRP). Charging the minimum revenue provision or a voluntary revenue
provision (in addition to the MRP) against the general fund will reduce the CFR.

6.3

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21 included an
expected net increase in the CFR of £12.262m during 2020-21 and a closing CFR
at 31 March 2021 of £35.159m. This increase was based on the 2020-21 capital
budget approved by Council in March 2020 and the revised capital budget for 201920 approved in December 2019. It also included an adjustment of £6.816m to
accommodate the CFR impact of implementing IFRS 16-leases previously expected
to take effect from 1 April 2020. The estimated increase in the CFR during 2020-21
and the closing CFR balance at 31 March 2021 were later revised to £4.817m and
£26.953m respectively. The net reduction to the expected movement in the CFR of
£8.206m reflects:
 the 2019-20 capital outturn position and approved budget carry forwards
incorporated into the 2020-21 revised capital budget. This reduced the
opening CFR at 1 April 2020 by £0.761m and added £0.657m to the
expected increase in 2020-21
 capital expenditure savings bids of £1.310m, funded from borrowing,
included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget
 reprofiling adjustments included in the revised 2020-21 capital budget to
move £0.130m of previously approved expenditure, funded from borrowing,
from 2020-21 to 2021-22
 removal of £6.816m from the CFR balance at 1 April 2021 following the
decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC to defer the implementation to 1 April
2021 and subsequently to 1 April 2022
 £0.1m reduction to the CFR arising from the decision taken by the Executive
in October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project
 £0.254m reduction to the MRP (increase in CFR) to reflect the 2019-20
outturn position and deferred implementation of IFRS 16.

6.4

Details of actual borrowing transactions undertaken in 2020-21 are summarised in
section 9.

6.5

At 31 March 2021, the Council’s capital financing requirement stood at £21.136m
compared to £22.136m at 31 March 2020. The decrease of £1.0m over the course
of 2020-21 reflects:
 an increase of £234k relating to unfinanced capital expenditure incurred
during the year
 a reduction of £106k arising from the decision taken by the Executive in
October to discontinue the Reedlands Road project
 a reduction of £1,128k resulting from amounts set aside from revenue (the
minimum revenue provision), calculated in accordance with the approved
MRP Policy Statement for 2020-21.

Page 70

Table 2: Capital Financing Requirement

CFR at 31 March

6.6

6.7

31.3.20
Updated
Estimate

31.3.20
Actual

31.3.21
Approved
Estimate

31.3.21
Updated
Estimate

31.3.21
Actual

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

22,897

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

The variance of £5.817m between the actual and updated estimate of the CFR at
31 March 2021 comprises:


£5.726m relating to the unfinanced portion of approved 2020-21 capital
budget carry forwards (i.e. the amount funded from borrowing) of £8.531m



£91k reduction in unfunded capital expenditure associated with the reported
net underspend (after budget carry-forwards) of £189k.

Capital budget carry-forwards of £8.531m were approved as part of the 2020-21
Capital Outturn report presented to the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. These
carry-forwards relate to the re-profiling of previously approved budget expenditure,
from 2020-21 to 2021-22, in respect of the following capital schemes:
 Regeneration and Investment - carry forward £4,400k (£4,400k unfinanced)
 Lillyhall Infrastructure - carry forward £1,763k (£491k unfinanced)
 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants - carry forward £555k (£0k unfinanced)
 Workington - Towns Funding Scheme - carry forward £482k (£14k
unfinanced)
 Strategic Acquisitions - carry forward £379k (£299k unfinanced)
 Brow Top Enhancement Schemes - carry forward £374k (£314k unfinanced)
 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes - carry forward £160k
(£59k unfinanced)
 Maryport Regeneration - HAZ- carry forward £106k (£0k unfinanced)
 Kirkgate Centre Contribution - carry forward £100k (£100k unfinanced)
 Other schemes - carry forward £212k (£49k unfinanced).

7.0 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates in 2020-21
7.1

Interest rate forecasts provided by the Authority’s Treasury advisors (Link Asset
Services) and included in the TMSS and Mid-year update, expected only gradual
rises in medium and longer-term fixed borrowing rates during 2020-21 and the two
subsequent financial years. Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the
cheaper form of borrowing over the period. Table 3 shows the PWLB borrowing rate
forecasts included in the TMSS and the updated forecast included in the Mid-year
update report. The latter was issued following publication of the quarterly Bank of
England Monetary Policy Report in August 2020 and the decisions and forward
guidance issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on
4 August.

Page 71

Table 3: Forecast interest rates 2020-2023
PWLB Borrowing Rates1
Quarter
ending

Mar-20
Jun-20
Sep-20
Dec-20
Mar-21
Jun-21
Sep-21
Dec-21
Mar-22
Jun-22
Sep-22
Dec-22
Mar-23

Bank Rate %
5 year %
TMSS

Mid- Yr

0.75
0.75
0.75
0.75
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.25
1.25
1.25
1.25

0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10

10 year %

TMSS Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr

2.40
2.40
2.50
2.50
2.60
2.70
2.80
2.90
2.90
3.00
3.10
3.20
3.20

1.90
1.90
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.00
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10

2.70
2.70
2.70
2.80
2.90
3.00
3.10
3.20
3.20
3.30
3.30
3.40
3.50

2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.20
2.20
2.20
2.30
2.30
2.30

25 year %
TMSS

3.30
3.40
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.70
3.70
3.80
3.90
4.00
4.00
4.10
4.10

50 year %

Mid- Yr TMSS Mid- Yr

2.50
2.50
2.50
2.50
2.60
2.60
2.60
2.70
2.70
2.70
2.70

3.20
3.30
3.30
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.60
3.70
3.80
3.90
3.90
4.00
4.00

2.30
2.30
2.30
2.30
2.40
2.40
2.40
2.50
2.50
2.50
2.50

1Certainty

rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates apply to
authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term borrowing and
associated capital spending.

7.2

Graph 1 along with the graph and tables in Appendix B show, for a selection of
maturity periods, the high and low points for PWLB certainty maturity rates, the
average rates, spreads and individual rates at the start and the end of the financial
year. The borrowing rates shown in table 3 are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate
(standard new loan rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most
authorities since 2012.
Graph 1: PWLB borrowing rates 2020-21

Page 72

Movement in PWLB certainty rates April to September 2020
7.3

PWLB rates are offered at a fixed margin above the Government’s cost of
borrowing, as measured by gilt (UK Government bonds) yields. The main influences
on gilt yields are the bank rate, inflation expectations and movements in US
treasury yields.

7.4

After falling to historically low rates during 2019-20, PWLB rates across the yield
curve varied within a relatively narrow range between April and July 2020, before
rising during August and early September at the longer end of the yield curve.

7.5

That increase came in two periods. The first, in the second week of August, was on
the back of hopes for fresh US stimulus. This saw investors switch monies out of
government bonds and into equities. The second shift, higher at the longer end of
the curve, came in the latter stages of the month as investors reacted to the
announcement of the tweak to the Federal Reserve’s inflation target. Despite moves
further out in the yield curve, rates at the short end remained anchored on the basis
of no fundamental change to the interest rate outlook.

7.6

At 30 September 2020, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new loans closed at
2.4% (30.9.19: 1.67%), up marginally from 2.34% at the beginning of the financial
year. The 25-year rate ended the period at 2.56%. This compares with a rate of
2.6% at the beginning of April 2019 and 1.83% at the end of September 2019. The
forecast rates for September included in the TMSS for 50 and 25-year maturities
were 3.3% and 3.4% respectively.
Movement in PWLB certainty rates October to March

7.7

The second half of 2020-21 saw a further upward spike in rates in mid-November.
This was followed by a sharp rise in gilt yields and PWLB rates in quarter 4 of 202021 driven by expectations of economic recovery boosted by the rapid progress of
the UK’s vaccination programme.

7.8

At 31 March 2021, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate (gilt plus 80bp) for new loans
stood at 1.99% (fixed) compared to 2.40% at 30 September (inclusive of the 180bp
margin above gilts). The 25-year rate ended the year at 2.19% compared to 2.56%
at 30 September 2020. This compares with updated forecasts included in the Midyear report for 50 and 25-year maturities at the end of 2020-21 of 2.3% and 2.5%
respectively.
Decrease in the margin over gilt yields – 26 November

7.9

In addition to the impact of movements in gilt prices, PWLB rates also remain
subject to ad-hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change (up or down) the margin
over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates. This is illustrated by the 100 basis point
increase implemented by the Treasury on 9 October 2019, the partial reversal of
this increase for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020 and the 100bp
reduction implemented on 26 November 2020 alongside new PWLB lending terms.
Following the reduction in margin implemented in November 2020, Standard Rate
loans are now priced at gilt plus 100 basis points and Certainty Rate loans at gilt
plus 80 basis points.

Page 73

7.10 The revised PWLB lending terms introduced in November 2020, alongside the
100bp reduction in Standard and Certainty rates, followed the conclusion of HM
Treasury’s consultation on future PWLB lending terms that took place between
March and July 2020. The aim of that consultation was to develop a proportionate
and equitable way to prevent local authorities from using PWLB loans to buy
commercial assets primarily for yield, without impeding their ability to pursue service
delivery, housing, and regeneration under the prudential regime.
7.11 The changes made to the PWLB’s lending terms in November 2020, mean the
PWLB will no longer lend to local authorities that plan to buy commercial assets
primarily for yield. This restriction applies on a ‘whole plan’ basis meaning the
PWLB will not lend to an authority that includes, anywhere in its capital plans, the
acquisition of investment assets primarily for yield, regardless of whether the
transaction would notionally be financed from a source other than the PWLB. The
PWLB’s guidance for applicants also makes it clear that local authorities must not
pursue a strategy of using private borrowing or internal borrowing to support
investment in an asset that the PWLB would not support and then refinancing or
externalising this with PWLB loans.
7.12 During the second half of 2019, there was much speculation that bond markets
were in a bubble that was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very
low levels. The context for this was heightened expectations that the US could have
been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations
of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact
of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low
levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these
conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.
7.13 While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the
last 30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This
means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the
gradual lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial
markets over the last 30 years.
7.14 Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this resulted in many bond yields up to
10 years turning negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there was, at times, an
inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10-year yields fell below shorter-term
yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.
7.15 Gilt yields had therefore, already been on a generally falling trend up until the
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields initially
spiked upwards in March, yields fell sharply in response to major western central
banks taking rapid policy action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets
during March and starting massive quantitative easing driven purchases of
government bonds. These actions also acted to put downward pressure on
government bond yields at a time when there was a huge and quick expansion of
government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such
unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields
to rise sharply.

Page 74

7.16 At the start of 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 8 years were negative: however, since
then all gilt yields have become positive and have risen sharply, especially in
medium and longer-term periods. The main driver of these increases has been
investors becoming progressively more concerned at the way that inflation has risen
sharply in major western economies during 2021, and expectations of further
increases in inflation. There is also significant investor concern that the US Federal
Reserve (the Fed.) is taking a too laid-back view that this inflation is purely
transitory and that it will subside, without the need for the Fed. to take any action to
tighten monetary policy. This could mean that rates will need to rise faster and
sharper if inflation were to get out of control.
7.17 Looking ahead, current forecasts anticipate little upward movement in PWLB rates
over the next three years as the Bank of England is not expected to raise the Bank
Rate above 0.25% during this period, as inflation is not expected to be sustainably
over 2%.

8.0 Borrowing Strategy for 2020-21
8.1

In recent years, the Council has maintained an under-borrowed position. This
means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR)
has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising cash supporting the Council’s
reserves and favourable in-year cash flows, the Council has been able to avoid the
need to borrow up to the level of the CFR.

8.2

This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce treasury risk
by postponing borrowing and reducing its external investment balances. The policy
of avoiding new borrowing by utilising cash balances, has served the Council well
and is considered prudent in light of low investment returns and the ongoing
counterparty risk considerations which have endured since the 2008 financial crisis.

8.3

Low investment returns (see section 10) also means there remains a cost of carry on
any new long-term borrowing not immediately used to finance capital expenditure as
this would have caused a temporary increase in cash balances and would have
incurred a revenue cost reflecting the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and
investment returns.

8.4

The borrowing strategy adopted in 2020-21 was for the Council to continue with this
policy during to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective
management of its interest rate exposures. In managing interest rate exposures,
interest rates were closely monitored throughout the year and a pragmatic strategy
adopted based upon the following principles:




if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and
short term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing would have been
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term
borrowing would have been considered.
if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in
long and short term rates than expected (e.g. due to an acceleration in the
start date and the rate of increase in central rates in the US and UK; a
greater tha expected increase in global economic activity or a sudden

Page 75

increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position would have been reappraised with the most likely action being to draw down fixed rate funding
whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the next few
years.

9.0

Borrowing Activity in 2020-21

9.1

A summary of borrowing transactions undertaken during 2020-21 is included in the
following table (table 4).
Table 4: External borrowing activity during 2020-21
New
Borrowing
£’000

Borrowing
Repaid
£’000

Other
Movements
£’000

17,247

0

(684)

0

16,563

31

0

0

0

31
54
16,648

01-Apr-20
£’000

31-Mar-21
£’000

Long-term
PWLB – fixed rates
Short-term
Local Bonds
Trust Funds

54

0

0

0

17,332

0

(684)

0

9.2

The Council did not undertake any new borrowing, premature repayments or
rescheduling of existing borrowing during 2020-21. Scheduled loan repayments of
£684k were made during the year to March 2021.

9.3

The Council’s 2020-21 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement
anticipated additional PWLB borrowing during 2020-21 of up to £6.61m to fund the
Council’s capital programme. It also assumed additional borrowing of up to £4.89m
in 2019-20. Actual new borrowing in 2019-20 was £2.5m.

9.4

As a result of the deferment of borrowing in 2019-20 and the changes included in
the Council’s revised 2020-21 capital programme, including the re-profiling of
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated (maximum)
external borrowing requirements in 2020-21 were subsequently revised to £7.23m.
This figure included £1.4m of borrowing in respect of unfinanced capital expenditure
(i.e. amounts funded from borrowing) incurred in prior years. A further £221k of
planned capital expenditure was budgeted to be met from internal borrowing.

9.5

The actual amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing in 2020-21 was
£234k compared to the revised budget of £6,051k. A variance of £5,817k. Of this
£5,726k has been was carried forward to 2021-22. The in-year expenditure of
£234k was met from internal borrowing.

9.6

As noted above, the Council’s policy is to use internal borrowing to avoid or
postpone the timing of any new borrowing, in circumstances where it considered
prudent to do so, having regard to its liquidity requirements and the effective
management of interest rate exposures.

Page 76

9.7

In 2020-21, the reported underspend against the capital budget, coupled with the
timing of capital expenditure during the year and other positive in year cash flows,
enabled the Council to continue with this policy. This has allowed the Council to
meet its liquidity requirements by utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances
and favourable in year cash flows without the need to borrow externally up to the
level of the CFR.

9.8

As a consequence, during the year to March 2021, the Council has maintained an
under borrowed position. At 31 March 2021, the level of under borrowing was
£4.49m, compared to £4.80m at 31 March 2020. Further information regarding the
movement in the CFR and the level of under borrowing is set out in Appendix A
(Prudential indicators).

9.9

At 31 March 2021, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed rate:
 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (31 March 2020: £8.0m)
 annuity loans of £1.460m (31 March 2020: £1.547m)
 EIP loans of £7.103m (31 March 2020: £7.700m).

9.10 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio
range from 1.95% to 9.5%. At 31 March 2021, the weighted average rate of interest
payable on the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio stood at 5.05% (31 March 2020:
4.97%). Whilst this remains above current rates applicable to new PWLB borrowing
(see Appendix B) - reflecting the historic nature of the Council’s PWLB loans
portfolio - the differential between new and premature redemption rates meant
rescheduling remained unviable throughout 2020-21.
9.11 At 31 March 2021, the ‘fair value’ of the Council’s PWLB loans portfolio, measured
using PWLB premature repayment rates, was £31.171m (31 March 2020:
£35.832m).The difference of £14.608m (31 March 2020 £18.585m) – between this
and the principal outstanding of £16.563m (31 March 2020: £17.247m) reflects:
i. the premium that would be payable to repay those loans prematurely of
£14.404m (2019: £18.381m), plus
ii. interest accrued from the previous scheduled repayment date of £0.204m
(2020: £0.204m).
9.12 At 31 March 2021, the weighted average life of the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio
was approximately 21 years (31 March 2020: 21 years). The weighted average time
to maturity of these loans was 25 years (31 March 2020: 25 years).

10.0 Investment Rates in 2020-21
10.1

Investment returns which had been exceptionally low during 2019-20 fell further
during 2020-21 to near zero and in some cases into negative territory.

10.2 Forecasts included in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2020-21
was for the Bank Rate to start the year at 0.75%, rising to 1.00% by March 2020
and to 1.25% by the end of the forecast period (2022-23). However, the emergence
of the Covid-19 pandemic invalidated these forecasts. Revised forecasts included in

Page 77

the Mid-year update included no changes in the Bank Rate over the forecast period.
The updated forecast, issued in August, took into account the Bank of England’s:
 decision in March 2020 to cut the bank rate, first to 0.25% and then to
0.10% in order to counter the hugely negative impact of the national
lockdown on the economy
 August Monetary Policy Report and the decisions and forward guidance
issued by the Banks Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) at its meeting on 4
August.
10.3

As noted above, in addition to the decision to cut Bank Rate and expand its
quantitative easing programme, the Bank of England and the Government also
introduced new programmes to supply the banking system and the economy with
massive amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses
to survive the lockdown. The Government also supplied huge amounts of finance to
local authorities to pass on to businesses. This meant that for most of the year there
was much more liquidity in financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with
the consequent effect that investment earnings rates plummeted.

10.4 The cuts made to the Bank Rate on 11 March and 19 March 2020, saw sharp falls
in rates at the short end of the yield curve with the 7-day rate falling by around
44bps during this period. At 31 March 2020, the 7-day LIBID rate stood at 0.006%
compared to 0.57% at 1 April 2019 and 0.46% at 10 March 2020. Since then
overnight and 7-day LIBID rates remained broadly stable during the first six months
of 2020-21.
10.5 Between April and September 2020, the overnight LIBID rate fluctuated between a
high of -0.06% and a low of -0.08%. The average overnight rate for the six months
to September 2020 was -0.07%. This compares with an average of 0.55% for the
corresponding period last year and an average for the financial year 2019-20 of
0.52%.
10.6 Over the same period, the 7-day LIBID fluctuated between a high of 0.005% and a
low of -0.08%. The average 7-day rate for the six months to September was 0.06%. This compares with an average of 0.57% for the corresponding period last
year and 0.53% for the year to March 2020.
10.7 In contrast, investment rates for terms of three months and longer were on a
declining trend through most of the first six months of 2020-21 with falls of between
51 and 68 basis points recorded across the curve between April and September.

Page 78

Graph 2: Investment Rates in 2020-21

10.8 Shorter-term investment rates remained broadly stable over the second half of
2020-21. Between October 2020 and March 2021, the 7-day rate fluctuated
between a high of -0.07% and a low of -0.10% and the overnight rate between a
high of -0.07% and a low of -0.09%.
10.9 The average 7-day rate for this period was -0.09% and the overnight rate average 0.08%. The average 7-day LIBID rate for 2020-21 as a whole was -0.07% (2019-20:
0.53%) and the overnight rate -0.08% (2019-20: 0.52%). The overnight rate closed
the year at -0.09% (31 March 2020: -0.07%) and the 7-day rate at -0.08% (31 March
2020: 0.01%).
10.10 Investment rates for terms of three months and longer fell further during the second
half of 2020-21, although the reductions of between four and eight basis points,
meant this was at a much slower pace than experienced over the first half of the
year. After reaching lows in late December/early January, modest increases in
longer-term rates in the final quarter of 2020-21 saw rates close the year marginally
(1 to 3 basis points) above those at the beginning of October.

11.0 Investment strategy
11.1 The Council’s investment policy is set having regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on
Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third edition)
issued in February 2018 and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services:
Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (‘the Treasury Management
Code’). The primary objectives of the Council’s treasury investment activity are to
ensure:
 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital sum
invested from loss)

Page 79



second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained (i.e. ensuring funds
invested are available to meet expenditure when needed).

11.2 The policy for 2020-21 was set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
and Investment Strategy approved by Council on 4 March 2020. The contents of
this policy include:
 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments may
be placed, including the use of credit ratings and other sources of information
to assess credit and counterparty risk
 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 limits on the amount that may be invested with any single institution or group
of institutions
 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently committed.
11.3

In the current economic climate and in light of the Council’s forecast liquidity
requirements, the investment strategy for 2020-21 considered it appropriate to keep
investment terms short and to retain the current upper limit on investment maturities
of 12 months on all new investments.

11.4

Continued concerns over counterparty risks promoted a cautious approach,
whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk
considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to borrowing rates.

12.0 Investment Outturn for 2020-21
12.1 Investment activity during the year - excluding ‘policy investments’ falling outside of
the Councils Treasury Management and Investment Strategies, is summarised in
the following table:
Table 5: Investment activity during 2020-21
Credit
Rating

1 April
2020
£’000

Investments
Made

Repaid

£’000

£’000

31 March
2021

31 March
2021

£’000

£’000

Specified Investments
Call Accounts
Call Accounts
Term Accounts (DMO)
Money Market Funds

AA-

1,386

9,989

(11,375)

0

0

A+/A/AAAAAA

1,750
0
5,856

35,422
117,415
74,020

(29,552)
(117,415)
(72,615)

0
0
0

7,620
0
7,261

11

0

0

1

12

9,003

236,846

(230,957)

1

14,893

Non Specified Investments
Equity Shares

Not rated

12.2 Investment activity during the year complied with the Council’s approved treasury
strategy and the Council had no liquidity difficulties. In keeping with MHCLG’s
guidance on local authority investments, the Council maintained a sufficient level of
liquidity through use of money market funds, call and fixed term deposits with HM

Page 80

Government’s Debt Management Office (DMO). All (specified) investments made
during 2020-21 had a maximum maturity not exceeding 365 days (from the date of
acquisition).
12.3

Over the course of 2020-21, the Council’s average short-term investment balance of
internally managed funds was £24.7m (2019-20: £13.6m). These funds earned an
average rate of return of approximately 0.07% (2019-20: 0.65%). This compares
favourably with the Council’s benchmark return (the average 7- day LIBID rate) over
the year of -0.07% (2019-20: 0.53%). The amount of interest and dividends earned
on investments (long-term and short-term) listed in table 5 and credited to the
general fund during 2020-21 was £17,448 (2019-20: £85,757). This compares to a
revised budget for 2020-21 of £20,000.

12.4

Underpinning the significant increase in average investment balances during 202021 compared to 2019-20, were the cash flows associated with measures
implemented by central government in response to Covid-19 pandemic. This
included the upfront receipt of grant funding in respect of various financial support
packages administered by the Authority on behalf of central government, as well as
a number of other measures aimed at alleviating pressures on local authority cash
flows during the pandemic.

12.5

During 2020-21, the reductions in market yields on shorter-term investments
contributed to a reduction in yields achieved on Money Market Funds (MMFs). Over
the course of the year, investments in Money Market Funds accounted for around
60% of investments placed, with yields achieved on those investments falling from
between 0.21% and 0.40% at the beginning of the year to between 0% and 0.01%
at 31 March 2021. The falls in market yields also saw a number of market
operators, including the DMOs’ Debt Management Account Deposit Facility, offer nil
or negative rates for very short-term maturities during 2020-21. However, where it
was necessary for the Authority to place funds with the DMO, it was able to avoid
negative rates through the considered management of investment maturities.
Credit Risk

12.6 The Council’s prime policy objective of its investment activity is to ensure the
security of principal sums invested.
12.7 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing
restrictions and limits on:
 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the
creditworthiness of the counterparty
 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the financial
standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty
 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on the
Council’s list of approved counterparties.

Page 81

12.8

Whilst published credit ratings remain the primary means of assessing the credit
worthiness of counterparties, the Council continues to make use of other sources
of information on credit risk before making investment decisions. This information
includes:


ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating over the
medium term)



credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or upgrading of
the credit rating could be imminent)



sovereign ratings and support mechanisms



credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market sentiment
regarding the credit risk associated with a particular institution and an early
warning of potential creditworthiness problems which may only belatedly lead
to actual changes in credit ratings).

12.9 In accordance with the Annual Investment Strategy for 2020-21, all investments
made during the year were:


restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds and call accounts)
with counterparties holding a minimum long-term rating across all three of the
main credit ratings agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or
equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns)



for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations determined by
reference to the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty and subject to a
maximum maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

12.10 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management Office
(DMO), the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or group of
institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m. For funds placed with
the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility, the current limit is £12m.
12.11 During April 2020 and January 2021, the amount of funding paid to the Authority as
part of central government’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic meant it was not
possible to place those funds with institutions on the Council’s list of approved
counterparties without breaching the approved counterparty limit with one or more
of those institutions. In order to minimise the counterparty risks created by this
situation, where the temporary investment of this additional funding could not be
accommodated within agreed counterparty limits, all excess amounts were placed
with HM. Treasury’s Debt Management Office (DMO).
12.12 This action required temporary suspension of the Authority’s £12m counterparty
limit on deposits placed with the DMO during the periods:


1 to 7 April 2021, coinciding with the receipt of £42m in respect of the Small
Business Fund, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund and the Local
Authority Discretionary Grant Fund, and



15 to 24 January 2021, following the receipt of £17.9m related to the
Business support package for January lockdown and LRSG schemes.

Page 82

13.0 Prudential Indicators
13.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other
forms of credit (for example finance leases). The process the Council must follow in
setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, to which the Council is
required to ‘have regard to’ under provisions contained in the 2003 Act.
13.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management
Codes and accompanying the sector guidance, include a number of other key
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:
 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the expectations
of the most likely maximum external debt for the year
 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR) - the undeylying need to borrow for capital
purposes - at the end of the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional
CFR for current and the following two financial years
 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of
more than 365 days
 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowings.
13.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary and other indicators and limits
required by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy
for 2020-21 and approved by members on 4 March 2020.
13.4 Updated indicators for 2020-21 were included in the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2021-22 approved by
members on 3 March 2021.
13.5 During 2020-21, the Council complied with the limits established by the Prudential
and Treasury indicators included in its Treasury Management & Investment
Strategy for 2020-21. Further information relating to the Prudential and treasury
indicators for 2020-21 are set out in Appendix A.

14.0 Delivery arrangements
14.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.

15.0 Implications and Impact
Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes
15.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.

Page 83

Finance/Resource implications
15.2

Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report.
Legal and governance implications

15.3 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities require the Council to report regularly
on specific aspects of its treasury management activities.
Risk analysis
15.4 The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management
activities will be measured. Risk implications associated with the Authority’s
treasury activity is considered in the main body of the report.
Increasing satisfaction and service
15.5

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Equality impacts

15.6

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Health and Safety impacts

15.7

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts

15.8

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Environmental/sustainability impacts

15.9

Not applicable to this decision/report.
Other significant implications

15.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report.

Page 84

Appendices attached to this report
Appendix
A

Title of appendix
Prudential and treasury indicators

B

Interest rate movements

C

GDP and inflation

Background documents available
Name of background document

Where it is available

Treasury Management Strategy Statement &
Investment Strategy 2020-21

Council Agenda 4 March 2020

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2020-21

Council Agenda 4 March 2020

Report author(s) and contact officer(s):
Barry Lennox
Financial Services Manager
Telephone no: 01900-702586
email: mailto:barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 85

Appendix A
Prudential and treasury indicators
1.0

Indicators required by the Prudential Code

1.1

The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the affordability,
prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by
setting estimates and limits and by publishing actuals for a range of prudential
indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury management practices are
in accordance with good practice.

1.2

The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance are designed to
support and record local decision-making. They are not designed to be comparative
performance indicators and should not be used for this purpose.

1.3

The Council’s performance compared to the limits and estimates set out in the
Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 2020-21 Midyear Treasury Update Report are summarised in the following sections.

2.0

Actual capital expenditure

2.1

Table A shows the actual capital expenditure incurred during 2020-21.
Table A: Actual capital expenditure

Capital Expenditure - Capital Outturn

2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Approved

£000

£000

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual2
£000

2,090

13,295

11,793

3,073

0

0

0

(98)

2,090

13,295

11,793

2,975

19

572

647

318

Capital grants & contributions

1,744

5,880

5,001

2,350

Revenue

(190)

9

94

179

Total expenditure financed in year

1,573

6,461

5,742

2,847

Supported borrowing

(11)

0

0

0

Unsupported borrowing

528

6,787

6,051

128

0

47

0

0

2,090

13,295

11,793

2,975

Capital Expenditure -

Other2

General Fund Capital Expenditure
Financed by:
Capital receipts

Unfinanced capital expenditure:

Leasing
Total financed & unfinanced
1
2

2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in March 2021);
Other capital expenditure comprises items monitored via the revenue budget, write-off of previously capitalised
costs and accounting adjustments required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

Page 86

2.2

Capital expenditure is defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 and
includes all expenditure that falls to be capitalised in accordance with proper
practices. It also includes any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 of
the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003
(as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction issued under section 16(2) of
the 2003 Act.

2.3

The variance of £8.818m between the capital outturn position (£2.975m) and the
2020-21 revised estimate (£11.793m) comprises:
 budget carry forwards of £8.531m
 net variance (underspend) of £189k.
 the write-off to revenue of previously capitalised costs associated with
cancelled capital schemes and the reversal of associated financing
transactions - £265k, less
 capital expenditure monitored through the revenue budget and other
adjustments of £167k.

2.4

Approved budget carry forwards of £8.531m reflect changes to the expected timing
of expenditure on individual schemes (rather than the overall amount of
expenditure) and subsequent budget revisions to reflect the re-profiling of
expenditure across the 2020-21 and 2021-22 financial years. Further details relating
to the capital outturn position for 2020-21 are set out in the Capital Outturn report
considered by the Council’s Executive on 21 July 2021. The net variance against
the capital budget after accounting for budget carry-forwards was £189k.

3.0

Actual Capital Financing Requirement

3.1

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s underlying
need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost of capital
expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources (grants,
contributions, capital receipts and revenue financing). It does not necessarily
correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position, which is determined in
accordance with an authority’s treasury management strategy and practices. Table
B shows the Council’s actual capital financing requirement at 31 March 2021.

Page 87

Table B: Capital financing requirement
2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Approved
estimate
£000

£000
CFR at 1 April

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual
£000

22,741

22,897

22,136

22,136

-

6,816

0

0

CFR at 1 April -total

22,741

29,713

22,136

22,136

CFR at 31 March

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

(605)

5,446

4,817

(1,000)

517

6,834

6,051

234

0

0

(100)

(106)

(1,122)

(1,388)

(1,134)

(1,128)

0

0

0

0

CFR IFRS 16 - Leases

Movement in CFR
Movement represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure
Adjustment to unfinanced
Less MRP
Less Voluntary set aside
1

expenditure2

(605)
Movement in CFR
5,446
4,817
(1,000)
Updated to reflect 2020-21 revised capital budget (including revisions approved by Council in
March 2021; 2 Adjustment in respect of prior year expenditure following the decision to
discontinue the Reedlands Road scheme

4.0

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

4.1

A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of prudence is
that, over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital purpose. In order to
ensure this is the case, gross external debt should not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next
two financial years.

4.2

This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years
but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. Gross debt
refers to the sum of borrowing and other long-term liabilities (credit arrangements).
Table C compares the Council’s gross debt and CFR.

Page 88

Table C: Gross debt & the CFR
2019/20
Actual at
31.3.20
£000
PWLB

2020/21
Approved
(max)
£000

2020/21
Revised
estimate1
£000

2020/21
Actual at
31.3.21
£000

17,247

25,475

23,792

16,563

Other borrowing

85

85

85

85

Lease Liabilities

0

6,647

0

0

Total debt

17,332

32,207

23,877

16,648

CFR at 1 April

22,741

29,713

22,136

22,136

517

6,834

5,951

128

Less: MRP

(1,122)

(1,388)

(1,134)

(1,128)

CFR at 31 March

22,136

35,159

26,953

21,136

(Under)/Over borrowing

(4,804)

(2,952)

(3,076)

(4,488)

Add: Unfinanced capital expenditure

Position at 31 March 2021 based on the maturity profile of the Council’s loan portfolio at
30.9.20 and new borrowing to fund the revised capital budget for 2020-21
1

4.3

At 31 March 2021, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital financing
requirement by £4.488m. This compares with an under-borrowed position at 31
March 2020 of £4.804m. The decrease of £0.316m during 2020-21 is represented
by:
 a reduction in the CFR of £1.128m, reflecting amounts set aside from
revenue in 2020-21 (the minimum revenue provision) to repay debt, plus
 a reduction to the CFR of £106k in respect of the write-off to revenue of
previously capital expenditure on capital schemes cancelled during the year
and the subsequent unwinding of previous financing transactions, less
 an increase in the CFR of £0.234m as a result of unfinanced capital
expenditure incurred during the year, and
 scheduled repayments of external (PWLB) borrowing of £0.684m.

5.0

Authorised limit for external debt

5.1

The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable Limit). It
imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt (excluding
investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) from other long-term
liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach of the Affordable Borrowing
Limit is prohibited by section 2(1) (a) of the Local Government Act 2003.

5.2

The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. The
Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the Operational
Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or unforeseen cash
movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for borrowing and other longterm liabilities.

Page 89

Table D: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2020/21
Approved
£000
Borrowing
Other long-term

liabilities1

Total

2020/21
Revised
£000

31.3.21
Actual
£000

2020/21
Actual (max)
£000

31,000

30,000

16,648

17,332

7,500

0

0

0

38,500

30,000

16,648

17,332

1 element

of the Authorised Limit for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed to
reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of IFRS
16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.

6.0

Operational boundary for external debt

6.1

The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external debt
is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum external debt
of a local authority according to probable events (that is, the most likely (prudent)
but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the maximum level of external
debt projected by these estimates. The Operational Boundary links directly to the
Council’s plans for capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing
requirement and cash flow requirements for the year for all purposes, but without
the additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator
separately identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities.
Table E: Operational boundary for external debt
2020/21
Approved
£000
Borrowing
Other long-term

liabilities1

Total

2020/21
Revised
£000

31.3.21
Actual
£000

2020/21
Actual (max)
£000

29,500

28,000

16,648

17,332

7,000

0

0

0

36,500

28,000

16,648

17,332

1 element

of the Operational Boundary for 2020-21 relating to other long-term liabilities removed
to reflect the decision taken by CIPFA LASAAC in December 2020 to defer implementation of
IFRS 16 - Leases until the 2022-23 financial year.

7.0

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

7.1

This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing and
proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget
required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment income).
Table F: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
2019/20
Actual
%
Ratio

12.7

2020/21 Approved
2020/21
Estimate
Revised Estimate
%
%
16.9

Page 90

11.3

2020/21
Actual
%
8.0

7.2

Financing costs comprise the aggregate of:
 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing
 interest payable under finance leases and other long-term liabilities
 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to the
amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers
 interest and investment income (excluding interest on policy investments
falling outside of the Council’s Treasury Management and Investment
Strategies)
 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives
 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions
 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be met
from government grants and local taxpayers.

7.3

Actual figures for Net Revenue Stream are taken from the Council’s Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement for ‘taxation and non-specific grant income and
expenditure’.

7.4

In 2020-21, the total Net Revenue Stream used in the calculation of this indicator
was significantly impacted by:
 additional Section 31 (s31) grants received by the Authority to compensate
for the loss of business rates income generated by the introduction of a
number of additional and extended business rates reliefs, and
 the receipt of a number of other grants provided by central government in
response to the Covid-19 pandemic (for example, Covid-19 emergency
funding and amounts received under the sales fees and charges
compensation scheme).

7.5

The Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream, excluding the impact of
Covid-19 emergency funding, grant receivable under the sales fees and charges
compensation scheme, and additional s31 grant receivable in connection with
additional and extended business rates reliefs and the Local Tax Income Guarantee
scheme is 12.9%.

8.0

Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code

8.1

In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code, there are also a
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code and
accompanying sector guidance. These are:
 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing
 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for periods of more than
over 365 days.

8.2

These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets)
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to interest rate, liquidity and refinancing
risks.

Page 91

9.0

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

9.1

This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from
concentrations of fixed rate debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to
facilitate reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or
high interest rates.

9.2

It is calculated as the amount of borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage
of total borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the
earliest date on which the lender can require payment.
Table G: Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period
At 31.3.20
Actual
%

Lower limit
2020/21
%

Upper limit
2020/21
%

At 31.3.21
Actual
%

Under 12 months

4.44

0

30

4.67

12 months to 2 years

3.99

0

20

4.21

2 years to 5 years

12.29

0

20

12.98

5 years to 10 years

15.39

0

30

13.86

10 years to 20 years

15.42

0

40

15.27

20 years to 30 years

2.31

0

40

0.96

30 years to 40 years

46.16

0

80

48.05

40 years to 45 years

0

0

80

0

10.0 Upper limits to the total of principal sums invested for period of more than 365 days
10.1

A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 days is
required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for the maturing
of such investments. The purpose of the limit for principal sums invested for periods
longer than 365 days is to contain the authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss
that might arise as a result of its having to seek early repayment or redemption of
principal sums invested.
Table H: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods or more than 365 days

Principal sums invested > 365 days

2019/20
Actual
£000

2020/21
Approved
£000

2020/21
Revised
£000

11

20

20

1

2020/21
Actual1
£000
12

Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment as 31
March 2021 is £1k

Page 92

Appendix B

PWLB certainty rates 2020-21

At 1.4.20
At 31.3.21
Low
Date
High
Date
Average
Spread

1-Years
%

4½- 5 Years
%

9½-10 Years
%

1.89
0.79
0.65
04/01/21
1.94
08/04/20
1.43
1.29

1.92
1.18
0.72
11/12/20
1.99
08/04/20
1.50
1.27

2.10
1.71
1.00
11/12/20
2.28
11/11/20
1.81
1.28

24½- 25
Years
%
2.10
2.19
1.53
11/12/20
2.86
11/11/20
2.33
1.33

49½ - 50
Years
%
0.54
1.99
1.32
11/12/20
2.71
11/11/20
2.14
1.39

Money market investment rates 2020-21 (LIBID)

At 1.4.20

Bank
Rate
0.10

At 31.3.21

0.10

-0.08

-0.08

-0.04

-0.01

0.04

High

0.10

0.00

0.14

0.56

0.62

0.77

High date

01/04/20

02/04/20

20/04/20

08/04/20

14/04/20

21/04/20

Low

0.10

-0.10

-0.11

-0.10

-0.10

-0.05

Low date

01/04/20

31/12/20

29/12/20

23/12/20

21/12/20

11/01/21

Average

0.10

-0.07

-0.05

0.01

0.07

0.17

Spread

0.00

0.10

0.25

0.66

0.73

0.83

7 day

1month

3 month

6 month

1 year

0.00

0.11

0.45

0.59

0.71

Page 93

Appendix C
UK, US and EZ GDP growth

Inflation UK, US, Germany and France

Page 94

